# 4 Transport and Energy



SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport

ransport, Climate and Sustainability Global Status Report - 3<sup>rd</sup> edition

## Contents

4.1	Transport Energy Sources	5
4.2	Vehicle Technologies	19



AUTHOR:

Marion Vieweg, *Current Future* Hannah Murdock, *Imperial College London* 





SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport

PT T

Transport, Climate and Sustainability Global Status Report - 3<sup>rd</sup> edition

## **Key findings**

#### **Demand trends**

- An analysis of 810 scenarios developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change concluded that to limit global warming even to 2 degrees Celsius (°C), transport energy consumption would need to peak between 2030 and 2035 and then decrease. Scenarios compatible with a 1.5°C scenario would require earlier peaking and steeper reductions in energy use from the sector.
- In 2021, the growth in transport energy consumption rebounded somewhat (although it did not yet return to 2019 levels), indicating that the decline in 2020 was related to the COVID-19 pandemic and not to policy action in the sector.
- The Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 led to fuel price spikes in the transport sector, underscoring the need to decouple transport from fossil fuel dependency. Towards the end of 2022, global cost inflation settled in the range of 5-10%.
- Improvements in engine technologies, the introduction of hybrid powertrains, and greater use of electric vehicles led to an 8.2% increase in the energy efficiency of cars and vans between 2015 and 2021. However, the increased popularity of sport utility vehicles (SUVs) and trucks poses a huge challenge to reducing energy consumption and emissions in the sector.
- In road transport, direct use of electricity is most efficient from an energy perspective, where this is technically and logistically feasible.
- The share of diesel among all oil products used in road transport increased from 39.1% to 45.5%

between 2000 and 2020. This trend is driven largely by rising demand for freight transport, which is mostly diesel-powered.

- Biofuels are the largest renewable energy source in transport, accounting for 3.7% of the sector's energy consumption in 2021, up 0.8 percentage points since 2015. The main policies supporting biofuels are blending mandates set by countries.
- Hydrogen can play a role whenever direct electrification is impossible. Hydrogen is considered plausible for road transport (for use in heavy-duty vehicles for long distances) and for aviation and shipping.
- Despite the immense growth in electric vehicles over the last decade, electricity demand in road transport is still low, with electric vehicles accounting for around 1% of vehicles globally in 2022. Electric vehicles represented only 0.14% of total global electricity consumption in 2020.
- Electrification is most prominent in rail transport, accounting for 45% of the energy consumed by rail in 2021.
- Fossil fuels continue to account for the majority of electricity generation in the power sector, and thus for the majority of the electricity supplied for electric vehicles.
- More than 450,000 commercial flights used sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) in 2022, with SAF production increasing 200% compared to 2021. However, SAF still accounted for only 0.1% of all consumed aviation fuel as of 2022.

### **Emission trends**

- Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions from road transport increased steadily between 2000 and 2020.
- Energy efficiency improvements and the use of renewable energy sources, mostly biofuels, helped reduce emissions from the transport sector. However, these savings continued to be outweighed by rising emissions from the overall growth in transport demand and from the modal shift towards higher-emitting forms of transport, leading to a net increase in emissions from the sector.
- The required shift to renewable energy in transport

will have negative effects on employment in regions that are highly dependent on fossil fuels. Policies aimed at fostering the decarbonisation of transport will need to ensure an equitable and just transition towards more sustainable jobs. Globally, this shift is expected to result in a net gain in jobs.

An "ambitious yet feasible" scenario from the International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) projects that the energy efficiency of lightduty vehicles will improve 0.75% annually between 2030 and 2050. Energy efficiency plays a major role in decarbonising the maritime and aviation sectors under this scenario.





### **Policy developments**

- Mandatory standards for energy efficiency and for greenhouse gas emissions have proven to be effective instruments to drive efficiency and the shift to zero-emission vehicles.
- An increasing number of countries mostly with limited or no domestic vehicle manufacturing – have established vehicle standards or other instruments to enhance the efficiency of imported vehicles.
- Fuel economy and greenhouse gas emission standards for heavy-duty vehicles are an important instrument to decarbonise the freight sector. In 2022, more than 70% of trucks sold were covered by fuel economy or vehicle efficiency regulations, although only seven countries or regions had such standards.
- Many countries have adopted vehicle labelling schemes to help consumers make informed

choices by better understanding the life-cycle costs of vehicles.

- Biofuel blending mandates remain the most popular measure for increasing renewable energy in transport, with at least 56 countries and the European Union having established some form of obligation by the end of 2022.
- As of the end of 2022, at least six countries mentioned biofuel blending in their updated Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement, with policy implementation yet to come.
- In aviation, some countries are considering biofuel blending mandates for sustainable aviation fuel.







## Overview

Fossil fuels continue to be the dominant energy source in the transport sector, determining trends for the sector's overall contributions to carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions and air pollution. Solutions that aim to "Avoid" transport activity and to "Shift" to more efficient modes will help reduce overall energy demand, while at the same time providing broader sustainability benefits. However, for full decarbonisation, additional "Improve" measures are required to increase the energy efficiency of vehicles and reduce overall energy alternatives to reduce the carbon intensity of energy use.

The fossil fuels used in transport emit large amounts of fine particulate matter, black carbon and other pollutants. In 2019, outdoor air pollution related in part to transport activity contributed to an estimated 4.2 million premature deaths.<sup>1</sup> This has motivated many countries to introduce fuel quality and emission standards for air pollutants and to increasingly supplement these with policies such as fuel economy and  $CO_2$  emission standards, energy labelling schemes and differentiated taxation.

Energy use in transport must rapidly transition to renewable energy sources, including biofuels, biogas, hydrogen, synthetic fuels and renewable electricity.<sup>2</sup> Policies to scale up renewable fuels include biofuel blending mandates and incentives for alternative powertrains that would support the use of renewable electricity and fuels. Some renewable fuels – such as liquid biofuels, synthetic fuels and upgraded biomethane - can be used in conventional internal combustion engines with small adjustments. Railways are already significantly electrified, allowing for a quick uptake of renewables. Other subsectors require changes in vehicle technology, such as battery electric and fuel cell electric vehicles (see Section 4.2 Vehicle Technologies).

Despite the rapid increase in electric vehicles and renewable power globally, as well as steady increases in biofuels, fossil fuels continued to account for nearly all (96%) of the energy used in transport in 2021 – a share that has barely changed over the past decade, due mainly to rising transport demand.<sup>3</sup> Electric vehicle targets do not automatically lead to the uptake of renewable energy, unless they are coupled with specific mandates. Electric vehicles accounted for around 1% of vehicles globally in 2022, while renewable energy supplied just over one-quarter of global electricity demand.<sup>4</sup> Sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) accounted for less than 0.1% of all aviation fuels consumed in 2022.<sup>5</sup>

These trends underscore the importance of prioritising measures to reduce overall transport demand and to shift to more sustainable modes, which can lead to greater emission reduction and broader sustainability benefits; it is also critical that the electricity used for electric vehicles is generated from renewable sources.<sup>6</sup>

## **Demand trends**



Several key trends, some of them contradictory, are driving greater energy consumption in transport. On the one hand, energy demand has declined due to the continuous increase in motor and vehicle efficiency and to greater use of electric vehicles (see Section 4.2 Vehicle Technologies). At the same time, however, energy demand has increased as both vehicle size and mass have grown (especially with the rising popularity of sport utility vehicles, SUVs), and as passenger and freight transport activity has risen overall (see Section 1.1 Transport in Support of 1.5°C and the SDGs).

The net growth in energy demand highlights the need to enhance efforts to rapidly improve vehicle efficiency, including by reducing vehicle weight and shifting to renewable energy sources to decarbonise the transport sector. In line with the Paris Agreement, energy demand must peak soon and then decrease rapidly. An analysis of 810 scenarios developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change concluded that to limit global warming even to 2 degrees Celsius (°C), transport energy consumption would need to peak between 2030 and 2035 and then decrease.<sup>7</sup> Scenarios compatible with a 1.5°C scenario would require earlier peaking and steeper reductions in energy use from the sector.<sup>8</sup>

**]**Q



FIGURE 1 Energy consumption in transport, by energy source, 2015, 2019 to 2021

Source: See endnote 11 for this section.

In 2021, the growth in transport energy use rebounded somewhat (although it did not yet return to 2019 levels), indicating that the decline in 2020 was related to the COVID-19 pandemic and not to policy action in the sector.<sup>9</sup> Fossil fuels continued to dominate the sector, supplying 96% of transport energy consumption in 2020 and 2021, whereas biofuels supplied 3.7% and renewable electricity 0.35%.<sup>10</sup> Due mainly to the overall increase in transport demand, the share of renewables in transport remained low at 4% in 2021, up just 0.9 percentage points from 2015 (see Figure 1).<sup>11</sup>

The Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 led to fuel price spikes in the transport sector, underscoring the need to decouple transport from fossil fuel dependency.<sup>12</sup> Towards the end of 2022, global cost inflation settled in the range of 5-10%.<sup>13</sup> Global oil demand and production remained relatively stable during the year, and the price of oil and subsequently transport fuels returned to mid-2021 levels by the end of 2022.<sup>14</sup> In some countries, pre-tax fuel prices for end users were twice as high in June 2022 as in July 2021.<sup>15</sup> The conflict also shifted trade for Russian oil from Europe and North America to India, China, and Türkiye, leading to a drop in container activity; however, lower trade volumes in bunker fuels were partly offset by longer transport routes (see Section 3.8 Shipping).<sup>16</sup>

Improvements in engine technologies, the introduction of hybrid powertrains and greater use of electric vehicles led to an 8.2% increase in the energy efficiency of cars and vans between 2015 and 2021.<sup>17</sup> The average specific fuel consumption (fuel use per 100 kilometres) has been declining (see Figure 2).<sup>18</sup> These improvements have been slowed by a trend towards increasing vehicle size and weight.<sup>19</sup> In particular, the increased popularity of SUVs and trucks poses a huge challenge to reducing energy consumption and emissions in the sector.<sup>20</sup> (See Section 3.6 Road Transport and Section 4.2 Vehicle Technologies.)

In road transport, direct use of electricity is most efficient from an energy perspective, where this is technically and logistically feasible. For road vehicles, the future renewable electricity demand will depend greatly on the vehicle propulsion technology used (see Table 1).<sup>21</sup> Battery electric vehicles are at least twice as efficient in terms of energy needed than fuel cell electric vehicles.<sup>22</sup> (See also Section 4.2 Vehicle Technologies.)

The share of diesel among all oil products used in road transport increased from 39.1% to 45.5% between 2000 and 2020 (see Figure 3).<sup>23</sup> This trend is driven largely by rising demand for freight transport, which is mostly dieselpowered. If fossil fuel-powered road freight continued, this







#### TABLE 1. Electricity requirements of different vehicle propulsion technologies

Source: See endnote 21 for this section.

Propulsion technology	Energy to generate 1 megajoule (MJ) of traction power	
Battery electric vehicles	1.7 MJ	
Fuel cell electric vehicles using liquid hydrogen	4.6 MJ	
Synthetic fuels based on renewable electricity	7.7 MJ	••

will influence the future demand for biofuels. Meanwhile, in the European Union (EU), the share of new passenger cars that run on diesel fell from 27.9% in 2020 to 19.6% in 2021.<sup>24</sup>

The share of natural gas used in transport increased from 3.6% to 4.5% between 2015 and 2021.<sup>25</sup> Natural gas consumption for trucks and buses remained stable over this period.<sup>26</sup> However, the number of passenger vehicle fleets running on compressed natural gas (CNG) has increased (especially in India, which has

the world's largest CNG vehicle fleet), due to the rapid expansion of fuelling infrastructure and to incentive programmes for CNG vehicle purchases and retrofits.<sup>27</sup>

Biofuels are the largest renewable energy source in transport, accounting for 3.7% of the sector's energy consumption in 2021, up 0.8 percentage points since 2015.<sup>28</sup> The main policies supporting biofuels are blending mandates set by countries.<sup>29</sup> Biofuel growth is driven mainly



- Motor gasoline excl. biofuels

2010

#### FIGURE 3 Shares of oil products used in road transport, by fuel type, 2000-2020

10%

0%

2000

by increased use of biodiesel, particularly fatty acid methyl ester (FAME), the dominant biodiesel type, which grew 52% between 2015 and 2021.<sup>30</sup> Production volumes of advanced renewable diesel in the form of hydrogenated vegetable oil (HVO) and hydroprocessed esters and fatty acids (HEFA) remain low but have grown the fastest among all biofuels, up 160% between 2015 and 2021 (see Figure 4).31

1%

Liquefied petroleum gases (LPG)

2005

Whereas ethanol production fell during the COVID-19 pandemic as overall passenger transport declined, biodiesel growth continued almost unhampered, since freight activity was much less affected, with activity levels (in tonne-kilometres) remaining almost constant. In addition, an increasing number of companies (for example, in the United Kingdom), relied on biogas for road freight, although at a much smaller scale.<sup>32</sup>

Hydrogen can play a role whenever direct electrification is impossible.33 Hydrogen is considered plausible for road transport (for use in heavy-duty vehicles for long distances) and for aviation and shipping.<sup>34</sup> Although fuel cell electric vehicles are less efficient than battery electric vehicles, they could be an option for reducing emissions from heavy-duty vehicles in the medium term.<sup>35</sup> However, most fuel cell vehicles (82%) were light-duty vehicles as of 2021.<sup>36</sup> In addition, less than 1% of global hydrogen production that year was low emission (so-called green or renewable hydrogen), while the majority was sourced from fossil fuels (grey hydrogen).<sup>37</sup> As of 2020, green hydrogen was at least three times more expensive to produce than grey hydrogen.38

2015

Gas/diesel oil excl. biofuels

1.1%

2020

Despite the immense growth in electric vehicles over the last decade, electricity demand in road transport is still low, with electric vehicles accounting for around 1% of vehicles globally in 2022 (see Section 4.2 Vehicle Technologies).39 Electric vehicles represented only 0.14% of total global electricity consumption in 2020 (see Figure 5).40 However, demand for electricity for road vehicles increased 730% between 2015 and 2021, with most of this growth in China.<sup>41</sup>

Electrification is most prominent in rail transport, accounting for 45% of the energy consumed by rail in 2021.42 Together with the small share of biodiesel used in rail transport, this resulted in a renewable energy share for rail in 2021 of 12.2%, the highest in the transport sector.<sup>43</sup> In aviation, the use of direct electric propulsion is so far limited to smaller aircraft and shorter distances.<sup>44</sup> In shipping, electrification is used only for shorter distances (such as in ferries and small vessels) or in dieselelectricity hybrid systems (see Section 3.8 Shipping).45

Fossil fuels continue to account for the majority of electricity generation in the power sector, and thus for the majority of the electricity supplied for electric vehicles.46 The share







## FIGURE 5 Electricity demand from electric vehicles in selected countries/regions, by vehicle type, 2015, 2020 and 2021







of renewables in total global electricity generation was an estimated 28% in 2021, up just 5 percentage points from 2015.<sup>47</sup> However, the share of renewables in global power generation capacity *additions* has increased rapidly since 2010, reaching 83% by 2020.<sup>48</sup> Despite such rapid increases in capacity, the overall growth in electricity demand globally has slowed potential gains in the share of renewables.

More than 450,000 commercial flights used sustainable aviation fuel<sup>1</sup> (SAF) in 2022, with SAF production increasing

**200% compared to 2021.**<sup>49</sup> **However, SAF still accounted for only 0.1% of all consumed aviation fuel as of 2022.**<sup>50</sup> SAF is currently blended with fossil fuel at rates of between 5% and 50%, but the first flight using 100% SAF took off in January 2023, raising hopes of increasing use rates in the future.<sup>51</sup> By the end of 2022, 60 airports, mainly in Europe and the United States, provided continuous supply of SAF blends, up from 46 in 2020, and 30 more airports provided batch deliveries, up from 23 in 2020.<sup>52</sup> (See Section 3.7 Aviation.)

i Produced from bioenergy, municipal waste, or synthetically through carbon captured from the air.

## **Emission trends**

**Carbon dioxide** (CO<sub>2</sub>) **emissions from road transport increased steadily between 2000 and 2020** (see Section 3.6 *Road Transport*).<sup>53</sup> Even regions where emission standards were increasingly strict saw growth due to rising transport demand. In the EU, emissions from passenger cars increased 5.8% between 2000 and 2019, despite a 6% decline in energy consumption per passenger-kilometre.<sup>54</sup> The use of biofuels dampened emission increases during this period, as did energy efficiency standards, but electrification did not play a significant role in decarbonising passenger cars in the EU up to 2019 (see Figure 6).<sup>55</sup> Energy efficiency improvements and the use of renewable energy sources, mostly biofuels, helped reduce emissions from the transport sector. However, these savings continued to be outweighed by rising emissions from the overall growth in transport demand and from the modal shift towards higher-emitting forms of transport, leading to a net increase in emissions from the sector.

The required shift to renewable energy in transport will have negative effects on employment in regions that are highly dependent on fossil fuels. Policies aimed at fostering the decarbonisation of transport will need to ensure an equitable just transition towards more sustainable jobs.<sup>56</sup>

## FIGURE 6 Evolution of $CO_2$ eq emissions from passenger cars in the EU-27, by contributing factor, 2000-2019



Note: Emission data are measured in CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent emissions and shown as a percentage change compared to the year 2000.

## FIGURE 7 Baseline emissions from transport in 2020, and the mitigation potentials from different sectoral activities to 2050

Source: See endnote 62 for this section.



**Note:** Figure does not show potential reductions from "Avoid" and "Shift" measures. HDV = heavy-duty vehicle; LDV = light-duty vehicle.

**Globally, this shift is expected to result in a net gain in jobs.**<sup>57</sup> It is crucial to find tailored solutions that mitigate negative developments and create a more equitable and sustainable system for all stakeholders.<sup>58</sup> According to a 2022 report, the top five countries leading the way on measures to achieve a just transition were Costa Rica, Portugal, Sweden, Argentina, and Spain, while China, Brazil, India, the United States and Europe (as a region) led in renewable energy jobs.<sup>59</sup>

An "ambitious yet feasible" scenario from the International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) projects that the energy efficiency of light-duty vehicles will improve 0.75% annually between 2030 and 2050.<sup>60</sup> In the future, zero-emission vehicles are projected to play a major role in emission reductions, especially for road transport. Widespread electrification with renewable sources also offers high potential for emission reductions, and must counteract the expected growth in emissions from rising transport activity and the use of heavier vehicles (see Figure 7).<sup>61</sup>

Energy efficiency plays a major role in decarbonising the

maritime and aviation sectors under the ICCT's "ambitious yet feasible" scenario. The scenario assumes an improvement in ship efficiency of 70% by 2040, with only 17% of energy demand being met by zero-emission vessels.<sup>62</sup> In aviation, emissions are projected to decrease 40% between 2020 and 2050, with only 10% of liquid fuels being replaced by electrification.<sup>63</sup>

## **Policy developments**

Mandatory standards for energy efficiency and for greenhouse gas emissions have proven to be effective instruments to drive efficiency and the shift to zeroemission vehicles. At least 11 countries plus the EU-27 – covering more than 80% of global passenger car sales – have established or enacted fuel efficiency or greenhouse gas emission standards for passenger cars and light trucks; some countries have proposed strengthening their standards, and at least one new country (Malaysia) has proposed enacting



**Note:** Differences in the test procedures across standards are converted to the New European Driving Cycle (NEDC), a testing method to check fuel economy and emissions. Switzerland and the United Kingdom have adopted EU greenhouse gas emission standards and are included under "EU" in the graph.

mandatory standards.<sup>64</sup> Countries where such standards have been implemented have seen significant reductions in both emissions and fuel consumption (see Figure 8).<sup>65</sup>

- Chile adopted new vehicle efficiency standards under its energy efficiency law, which will come into effect in 2024 for light-duty vehicles and 2026 for medium-duty vehicles, progressing from 18.8 kilometres per litre in 2024 to 28.9 kilometres per litre by 2030 for light-duty vehicles.<sup>66</sup>
- The United States revised its fuel economy standards in 2022, with the new standards aimed at increasing fuel efficiency 8% annually for model years 2024-2025 and 10% annually for model year 2026.<sup>67</sup>
- As part of its Fit for 55 package, the EU adopted higher fleetwide CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction targets for new passenger cars and vans, raising reductions to 55% for cars and 50% for vans by 2030, and 100% for both by 2035, effectively banning fossil fuels.<sup>68</sup>
- Malaysia issued a voluntary standard in 2021 for energy-

efficient vehicle certificates – including vehicle labelling – and started a public consultation process in 2022 for mandatory greenhouse gas emission standards.<sup>69</sup>

An increasing number of countries - mostly with limited or no domestic vehicle manufacturing - have established vehicle standards or other instruments to enhance the efficiency of imported vehicles. By mid-2020, 67 countries had age restrictions on the import of used vehicles, which influence the fuel efficiency.<sup>70</sup>

- In 2023, New Zealand began operating a Clean Car Standard system that grants importers CO<sub>2</sub> credits for vehicles that have fewer emissions than the individual vehicle target, and imposes charges for vehicles that have higher emissions.<sup>71</sup> The scheme applies to new and used cars and light commercial vehicles; targets are set annually up to 2027, and rates for exceeding the target will increase in 2025.<sup>72</sup>
- In 2020, the 15 member states of the Economic Commission of West African States (ECOWAS) adopted age limits of 5 years for imports of light-duty vehicles and 10 years for heavy-duty

vehicles; members have 10 years to implement the restrictions under the region's new fuel economy roadmap.<sup>73</sup>

- In January 2023, Kenya started enforcing its import bans for motor vehicles older than eight years and for trucks up to 30 tonnes that are older than three years.<sup>74</sup>
- Uganda imposed a ban on the import of motor vehicles older than nine years as of 1 July 2022.<sup>75</sup>
- After the end of Brazil's Invar Auto programme in 2017, which provided tax credits for meeting corporate average vehicle efficiency targets, the country set an efficiency improvement target of 11% over 2017 levels starting in 2022 under its Rota 2030 scheme.<sup>76</sup>

Fuel economy and greenhouse gas emission standards for heavy-duty vehicles are an important instrument to decarbonise the freight sector, particularly given the challenges in finding alternative fuels and propulsion systems for heavy-duty trucks. In 2022, more than 70% of trucks sold were covered by fuel economy or vehicle efficiency regulations, although only seven countries or regions had such standards (Canada, China, the EU, India, Japan, the United Kingdom and the United States).<sup>77</sup>

- In 2023, the EU proposed enhanced standards for 2030 that would raise the efficiency improvement target to 45% up from the current 30% and reduce emissions 90% by 2040.<sup>78</sup>
- Chile's Energy Efficiency Law introduces the first standards for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, which for medium-duty vehicles would be defined in 2024 and take effect in 2026 (and for heavy-duty vehicles in 2026 and 2028, respectively).<sup>79</sup>
- New Zealand adopted a new procurement requirement in 2022 that requires all public transport buses purchased starting in January 2025 to be zero emissions.<sup>80</sup>
- In 2021, 15 countries and regions endorsed the Global Memorandum of Understanding on Zero-Emission Medium and Heavy-Duty Vehicles, committing to 100% zero-emission new truck and bus sales by 2040; as of February 2023, the measure had a total of 27 endorsees including manufacturers, fleet owners, utilities and sub-national entities.<sup>81</sup>
- California (USA) enacted in 2020 the Advanced Clean Trucks regulation, the first regulation worldwide requiring manufacturers to increase the sales share of zero-emission trucks. By 2035, the rule requires a zero-emission share of 40% for tractor trucks (class 7-8), 75% for rigid trucks (class 4-8) and 55% for pick-up trucks and vans (class 2b-3).<sup>82</sup>

Many countries have adopted vehicle labelling schemes to help consumers make informed choices by better understanding the life-cycle costs of vehicles. Several other policies influence the energy efficiency of vehicles, with vehicle taxation often used to steer consumers towards more efficient vehicles.

- In 2022, Viet Nam extended its vehicle labelling scheme to include externally charged hybrid and fully electric vehicles.<sup>83</sup>
- Thailand is adapting its labelling to include watts-per-kilometre for electric vehicles; labelling is particularly relevant in the country because the information is directly linked to vehicle excise tax.<sup>84</sup>
- New Zealand launched an updated vehicle labelling scheme in April 2022 that includes CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and Clean Car Discount eligibility.<sup>85</sup>
- In 2021, Indonesia reformed its vehicle tax structure to include fuel consumption and emission levels.<sup>86</sup>

Biofuel blending mandates remain the most popular measure for increasing renewable energy in transport, with at least 56 countries and the EU having established some form of obligation by the end of 2022.<sup>87</sup> Biofuels policies are driven and restricted by the availability of feedstocks, cost and resulting demand. Countries with abundant feedstocks are more likely to implement blending mandates and generally support biofuel production infrastructure. Requirements regarding the sustainability of biofuels and life-cycle greenhouse gas emissions including land use vary across countries. Several changes to existing mandates emerged in 2021, many in direct response to rising fuel prices:

- Canada replaced its Renewable Fuels Regulations with Clean Fuels Regulations, which take a life-cycle approach and require suppliers to reduce the carbon intensity of diesel and petrol sold in the country, starting in 2023.<sup>88</sup>
- The United Kingdom introduced the mandatory provision of E10 (10% ethanol blend) petrol as the standard in petrol stations, although E5 blends will remain available.<sup>89</sup>
- India released its 2025 ethanol roadmap, which would move up by five years the country's blending mandate for 20% ethanol, to 2025. The roadmap places a renewed focus on food-based feedstocks, despite past challenges in meeting ethanol blend rates, in a departure from the Ethanol Blended Program laid out under the National Policy on Biofuels, which prioritised second-generation feedstocks.<sup>90</sup>
- Argentina lowered its biodiesel blending mandate from 10% to 5% in June 2021 to control rising fuel prices and split its 12% ethanol blending requirement to 6% from sugar cane and 6% from corn.<sup>91</sup> In June 2022, the mandate was raised to 7.5% to increase supply, and in October the government launched a Biofuel Commission, which calls for a 15% ethanol blend mandate and a 1% blend mandate for SAF.<sup>92</sup>
- In 2021, Brazil cut its biodiesel blending mandate from 13% to 10% to counter rising costs; however, government data suggest that blending could return to 15% in March 2023.<sup>93</sup> Still, the country's RenovaBio programme remains the world's largest programme supporting biofuels.<sup>94</sup> In 2023, the

programme updated its mandatory emission reduction targets, while the federal government published guidelines for the implementation of a carbon credit market among biofuels producers and importers.<sup>95</sup>

- Finland temporarily reduced its biofuel blending obligations from 19.5% to 12% for 2022 and from 21% to 13.5% for 2023, in an effort to reduce end-user fuel prices.<sup>96</sup> To compensate for the additional emissions, the government plans to increase its blending obligation for 2030 from 30% to 34%.<sup>97</sup>
- Malaysia pushed the roll-out of its biodiesel blend mandate from 2020 (when it was delayed by the pandemic) to early 2022.98

## Changes to existing biofuel mandates in 2022 included the following:

- Colombia reduced its ethanol blending mandate from 10% to 6%, while Thailand reduced its biodiesel mandate from 7% to 5%.<sup>99</sup>
- The Czech Republic, Latvia, Peru and Zimbabwe temporarily suspended their biofuel blending mandates.<sup>100</sup> At the sub-national level, New Mexico (USA) also suspended its mandate.<sup>101</sup>
- The Republic of Korea increased its biofuels mandate from 3% to 3.5%, with further increases to occur in 2024 (4%) and 2030 (8%).<sup>102</sup>
- Poland increased its biofuels mandate from 4.95% to 6.2%.<sup>103</sup>

#### New biofuel policies under development as of 2022 included:

- New Zealand is set to introduce targets to reduce the emission intensity of fuels 2.4% by 2024 (and 9% by 2035) through its Sustainable Biofuels Obligation Bill, which had its first reading in Parliament in November 2022.<sup>104</sup>
- Indonesia was road-testing a 40% biodiesel blend that could lead to a higher ethanol blending mandate by 2025.<sup>105</sup>

As of the end of 2022, at least six countries mentioned biofuel blending in their updated Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) towards reducing emissions under the Paris Agreement, with policy implementation yet to come.

- Blends mentioned in countries' NDCs include Eswatini (E10 by 2030), Guatemala (B10 by 2032), Lao People's Democratic Republic (10% of transport fuels by 2030), Malawi (E20 by 2040), Mali (5.4% biodiesel and 11% ethanol by 2030) and Vanuatu (B20 by 2030).<sup>106</sup>
- Other countries have set renewable energy targets for the sector in their NDCs, such as Dominica (100% by 2030) and the Republic of North Macedonia (10% by 2030).<sup>107</sup>

In aviation, some countries are considering biofuel blending mandates for sustainable aviation fuels. Additionally, the EU is revising its Emission Trading System (ETS) to apply the polluter pays principle by phasing out free allowances for the aviation sector by 2026.<sup>108</sup> As part of the Fit for 55 package agreed to in December 2022, the EU would include emissions from maritime transport in its ETS starting in 2024, and would create a separate ETS for buildings, road transport and fuels.<sup>109</sup>

- The EU's Fit for 55 package aims to establish an SAF blending mandate starting in 2025, with shares increasing up to 2050.<sup>110</sup>
- In 2022, the United Kingdom confirmed a SAF blending mandate from 2025 requiring at least 10% of jet fuel to be made from sustainable feedstocks by 2030.<sup>111</sup>



#### **AUTHORS**:

Oliver Lah, Alvin Mejia and Kanya Pranawengkapti, Urban Electric Mobility Initiative, Wuppertal Institute

**CONTRIBUTOR**: Nikola Medimorec, *SLOCAT Secretariat* 



# Vehicle Technologies



SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport

Transport, Climate and Sustainability Global Status Report - 3<sup>rd</sup> edition Note: This section is focused on the electrification of transport, covering all transport modes. Major trends for specific modes are captured in other sections, including 3.3 Cycling, 3.5 Intercity Rail Transport, 3.7 National and International Aviation, 3.8 Shipping – Maritime and Inland Waterways, and 4.1 Transport Energy Sources.

## **Key findings**

#### **Demand trends**

- Electric four-wheeled vehicles are the fastest growing sector of the clean energy industry. In 2022, global sales of electric cars (including battery electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles) increased 55% – exceeding 10 million units – and nearly every seventh car sold was electric.
- The global electric car fleet increased 154% between 2020 and 2022, maintaining five-year average growth of 53%. The global electric car stock totalled 26 million units in 2022, more than five times the number in 2018. However, electric vehicles still accounted for only around 1% of vehicles globally. In 2022, an estimated 70% of the fleet was battery electric vehicles, and 30% was plug-in hybrids.
- As of 2022, at least 209,000 electric vehicles were deployed in company fleets, around 40,000 more than at the end of 2020.
- Electric two-wheeled vehicles (i.e., electric-assist bikes, mopeds and non-speed-limited motorcycles) dwarf numbers of other electric vehicles, with a total of 275 million units globally in 2022. However, global sales of electric two- and three-wheeled vehicles fell 18% in 2022, from more than 11 million units in 2021 to 9.2 million units. Most sales were in Asia, with China accounting for around 84% of new electric two-wheeled vehicle registrations in 2022.
- The number of electric medium- and heavy-duty trucks increased 19% in 2022 to 322,000 vehicles. Sales of electric trucks increased from 40,000 units

in 2021 to around 60,000 units in 2022, although this reflected just 1.2% of total truck sales.

- The global electric van stock grew 45% in 2022, to an estimated 948,000 vehicles, and the electric bus fleet grew 8% to 800,000 vehicles. Electric bus sales represent 4.5% of total new bus sales in 2022.
- Global sales of used electric vehicles have increased, with the European Union (EU), Japan and the Republic of Korea exporting more than 760,000 units between 2017 and 2020.
- Electric vehicle charging infrastructure grew 55% in 2022. An estimated 900,000 new publicly available chargers were installed worldwide during the year, bringing the cumulative total to 2.7 million.
- In 2022 and for the first time since 2013 average global prices for electric vehicle batteries rose 7% due to higher material and energy costs during production, a trend that could slow the global uptake of e-mobility solutions.
- Electric vehicle battery swapping systems have continued to grow globally. In 2021, the market was dominated by services catering to passenger electric vehicles, accounting for an estimated 57.5% of the total revenue and led by the increase in electric micro-mobility, such as e-scooters.
- A major driver of future demand for electric vehicles is lower fuel costs, which were at least a third those of diesel and petrol in 2022.

### **Emission trends**

- Global energy consumption for electric mobility increased 22% in 2022, with more than half (59%) of the demand coming from electric cars, followed by electric buses (21%), motorcycles (12%) and trucks (8%). In total, these electric vehicle fleets consumed around 110 terawatt-hours of electricity in 2022.
- Fossil fuel dependency is a major issue in transport and needs to change quickly. Electricity is projected to become the dominant fuel in transport by the early 2040s.
- Aggressive emission reduction pathways aligned with the goal of keeping global warming below 1.5 degrees Celsius (°C) by 2050 feature a significant uptake of electric vehicles, with at least 80% of cars and small commercial vehicles being electric by 2050.
- Although the Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine led to surging natural gas prices and greater demand for coal, the increased carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions from coal have been curtailed by the more aggressive deployment of renewable energy technologies (such as solar photovoltaics and wind) and of electric vehicles.
- Overall, battery electric vehicles emit fewer life-cycle greenhouse gas emissions than fossil fuel-powered vehicles, especially when the vehicles are charged using low-carbon electricity.

### **Policy developments**

- Electric vehicles are only one part of the broader transformation needed in transport and mobility systems worldwide to achieve both decarbonisation and sustainability goals, such as access to transport for all, safer roads, cleaner air and livable cities. This transformative change requires an integrated multi-modal, multi-level approach that addresses all aspects of the transport and mobility system.
- Electric vehicle uptake should be framed in a circular economy approach, including the end-of life recycling of batteries as well as the re-use and recovery of other materials (e.g., electronics, metals, minerals).
- More jurisdictions are setting targets for phasing out fossil-fuelled vehicles. As of April 2023, at least 41 countries or sub-national jurisdictions had set phase-out targets for vehicles with internal combustion engines, twice as many as in 2020.
- Many policies related to transport and climate change have highlighted the electrification of buses and/or the procurement of new e-buses, with at least 20 countries announcing such measures during 2020-2022.
- Some governments and other stakeholders have set concrete targets for electric vehicle charging infrastructure.

- Government subsidies for electric vehicles nearly doubled in 2021, approaching USD 30 billion globally. Other economic instruments used to support uptake include tax rebates, feebates and bonus-malus schemes, in which governments incentivise zero- and low-emission vehicles while discouraging high-emission vehicles.
- By the end of 2022, countries' climate strategies were highly favouring electric mobility over other types of actions to mitigate transport emissions.
- In 2021 and 2022, significant global initiatives were focused on the electrification of light-duty as well as medium- to heavy-duty vehicles, covering all major automobile markets and regions.
- Leading automakers are projected to spend an estimated USD 1.2 trillion to 2030 to deliver up to 54 million electric vehicles (and the necessary batteries), accounting for 50% of total vehicle production.
- There is a risk of an electric mobility divide between high-income countries and low- and middle-income countries, in the absence of electrification policies tailored at the economic and regional context.



## Overview

Replacing the current fossil-fuelled road transport fleet with low-emission vehicles – powered by electrification, hydrogen, biofuels and e-fuels – is a key strategy towards decarbonisation of transport. Actively supporting the adoption of electric and other low-emission vehicles, along with the necessary enabling infrastructure, is a crucial step towards achieving a sustainable transport system. Managing the overall size and shape of the vehicle fleet goes hand in hand with efforts to manage mobility demand through shifts to sustainable, low carbon transport modes.

Minimising the carbon emissions from vehicle technologies is a key systemic change that is required in the mobility transition. Electric vehicles have zero emissions at the tailpipe and produce far fewer greenhouse gas emissions over their lifetimes than conventional petrol- or diesel-powered vehicles. The carbon footprint of electric vehicles will continue to shrink as they are increasingly powered by renewable electricity sources. In addition to reducing emissions, shifting to low-emission vehicles can improve local air quality, reduce dependence on fossil fuels and lower transport costs. These technologies also hold significant potential for economic development, especially in markets beyond traditional auto manufacturing countries.

However, the overall contribution of low-emission vehicles to climate change mitigation and sustainable development depends critically on their integration with other pillars of the system. Low-emission vehicles need to be fit-for-purpose, meaning that they must be both resource- and energy-efficient. This strengthens the case for electric micro-mobility (twoand three-wheelers and a more diverse set of four-wheelers, including two-seaters, small vans and trucks, and light electric freight vehicles) and points to the cost-effectiveness of more systemic approaches to transforming transport.<sup>1</sup> In recent years, many countries have shifted their approach from encouraging the uptake of electric vehicles towards setting phase-out targets for conventionally fuelled vehicles.

Vehicle electrification strategies should be seen in light of other options for reducing emissions from transport, such as "avoid, shift and improve" strategies. For passenger transport, a high-shift scenario to either electric vehicles or public transport alone would be insufficient to reduce emissions to levels required to avoid climate change.<sup>2</sup> Achieving a net zero emission pathway requires considering all available options to provide access to sustainable mobility for all, including vehicle technologies, modal choice and compact urban design. It is critical to adopt an integrated, multi-modal approach that addresses all aspects of the mobility system, that aligns with national and local policies, and that involves both public and private sector action.

Although low-emission vehicles are a crucial aspect of decarbonising the land transport sector, they are not a sufficient solution. A world with 2 billion low-emission cars would still be unsustainable due to increased traffic congestion, displacement of land for highways and parking, and destruction of ecosystems for mineral extraction.

As an energy end-use sector, transport is directly linked to Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 7 (affordable and clean energy). Stakeholders can contribute to SDG 7 by increasing the share of renewables in the energy mix and by implementing measures to improve passenger/freight output per unit of energy input. Transport systems also impact SDG 9 (industry, innovation and infrastructure) and SDG 12 (responsible consumption and production), and they are impacted in part by measures taken by governments and industry to achieve these goals.<sup>3</sup>



## **Demand trends**

Electric four-wheeled vehicles are the fastest growing sector of the clean energy industry.<sup>4</sup> In 2022, global sales of electric cars (including battery electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles) increased 55% – exceeding 10 million units – and nearly every seventh car sold was electric.<sup>5</sup> The share of electric cars in all car sales globally increased from 9% in 2021 to 14% in 2022.<sup>6</sup> Around 60% (6.2 million) of the electric cars sold in 2022 were in Asia, followed by 26% in Europe and 11% in North America (see Figure 1).<sup>7</sup>

- China accounted for 60% of the growth in electric car sales in 2021 and 2022, with the number of electric cars sold in the country in 2021 (3.2 million) exceeding the total number sold worldwide in 2020.<sup>8</sup>
- Electric vehicle sales in Europe grew more than 15% in 2022 (total sales of 2.3 million), while North America sold an additional 300,000 electric vehicles that year (total sales of 726,000).<sup>9</sup>
- Low-emission vehicle trends in other regions can be found in the respective regional overviews (see Section 2.1 Africa, Section 2.4 Latin America and Caribbean, and Section 2.6 Oceania).
- Overall, vehicle sales (of all types) slowed between 2020 and 2022, due in part to disruptions caused by the pandemic and by the Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine.<sup>10</sup> The pandemic led to the disruption of supply chains, affecting the production and distribution of vehicles.<sup>11</sup> At the same time,

visible improvements in urban air quality early in the pandemic paralleled greater demand for cleaner electric mobility.<sup>12</sup>

The global electric car fleet increased 154% between 2020 and 2022, maintaining five-year average growth of 53%.<sup>13</sup> The global electric car stock totalled 26 million units in 2022, more than five times the number in 2018 (see Figure 1).<sup>14</sup> However, electric vehicles still accounted for only around 1% of vehicles globally.<sup>15</sup> In 2022, an estimated 70% of the fleet was battery electric vehicles, and 30% was plug-in hybrids.<sup>16</sup>

As of 2022, at least 209,000 electric cars were deployed in company fleets, around 40,000 more than at the end of 2020.<sup>17</sup> The company EV fleet is supported by nearly 21,000 charging units installed in more than 3,000 locations worldwide.<sup>18</sup> In Europe, six out of ten cars sold in 2020 were company vehicles, but 87% of them were fossil fuel-powered vehicles, pointing to the need to prioritize electrification of company fleets.<sup>19</sup>

Electric two-wheeled vehicles (i.e., electric-assist bikes, mopeds and non-speed-limited motorcycles) dwarf numbers of other electric vehicles, with a total of 275 million units globally in 2022.<sup>20</sup> However, global sales of electric two- and three-wheeled vehicles fell 18% in 2022, from more than 11 million units in 2021 to 9.2 million units.<sup>21</sup> The main reason for the drop was supply chain challenges in China related to the COVID-19 pandemic, which led to lower sales in the country's domestic market.<sup>22</sup>

#### FIGURE 1. Electric passenger car stock (left) and sales (right), 2015-2022

Source: See endnote 7 for this section.



■ Africa ■ Asia ■ Europe ■ LAC ■ Nort America ■ Oceania

- Most sales were in Asia, with China accounting for around 84% of new electric two-wheeled vehicle registrations in 2022.<sup>23</sup> Almost every second electric vehicle sold in China was an electric two-wheeler in 2022.<sup>24</sup>
- India added 300,000 electric two- and three-wheelers in 2021, Viet Nam added 230,000 units, and Europe added 87,000 units.<sup>25</sup> (For more on electric-assist bikes, see Section 3.3 Cycling.)

The number of electric medium- and heavy-duty trucks increased 19% in 2022 to 322,000 vehicles.<sup>26</sup> Sales of electric trucks increased from 40,000 units in 2021 to around 60,000 units in 2022, although this reflected just 1.2% of total truck sales.<sup>27</sup>

- In 2022, 95% of electric truck sales were in China, with most of the electric trucks having a gross vehicle weight of under 4.5 tonnes.<sup>28</sup>
- The number of electric truck models increased significantly as 220 new models were released in 2022, showing that truck electrification has become increasingly popular among vehicle manufacturers.<sup>29</sup>

# The global electric van stock grew 45% in 2022, to an estimated 948,000 vehicles, and the electric bus fleet grew 8% to 800,000 vehicles.<sup>30</sup> Electric bus sales represent 4.5% of total new bus sales in 2022.<sup>31</sup>

- In 2021, the strongest growth in electric vans and light commercial vehicles was in the Republic of Korea, representing 12% of all van sales and increasing from 1,500 vehicles in 2019 to 28,000 vehicles in 2021.<sup>32</sup> China was home to 60% of the global van fleet in 2022.<sup>33</sup>
- China continues to dominate the electric bus and truck market, accounting for about 96% of the estimated global electric bus as well as the electric truck stock in 2022.<sup>34</sup>
- Battery-electric buses became the dominant type of bus sales in the EU in 2019. In Europe, more than 3,400 e-buses were delivered in 2022 – bringing the total operational stock to more than 11,600.<sup>35</sup> As of 2022, more than two thirds of new bus registrations in the EU were electric and a third of the total bus stock was electric.<sup>36</sup>
- In 2021, for the first time, at least three countries in Europe (France, Germany and the United Kingdom) registered more than 500 e-buses each.<sup>37</sup> The European Automobile Manufacturers' Association estimated that e-buses account for more than 6% of bus registrations in the EU as of 2021.<sup>38</sup>

Global sales of used electric vehicles have increased, with the European Union (EU), Japan and the Republic of Korea exporting more than 760,000 units between 2017 and 2020.<sup>39</sup> Although uptake of electric vehicles in many low- and middle-income countries has lagged, opportunities to transfer cleaner vehicle technologies have arisen through used vehicle markets.<sup>40</sup>

Electric vehicle charging infrastructure grew 55% in 2022.<sup>41</sup> An estimated 900,000 new publicly available chargers were installed worldwide during the year, bringing the cumulative total to 2.7 million.<sup>42</sup> Annual growth in charging infrastructure in 2022 exceeded pre-COVID-19 levels for 2015-2019, which were around 50%.<sup>43</sup> Most public chargers – just over two-thirds (67%) – were slow chargers in 2022.<sup>44</sup>

- China was home to roughly two-thirds (62%) of the world's public chargers in 2022, or more than 1.7 million.<sup>45</sup> The Republic of Korea with 201,000 public chargers, or 7% of the global total overtook the United States (with 130,000, or 5%) during the year.<sup>46</sup>
- By the end of 2022, Europe had 430,000 electric vehicle chargers, of which 73% were medium-speed alternating current chargers.<sup>47</sup>
- The Republic of Korea boasts the highest density of charging locations, with 75 locations per 100 kilometres of roadway in 2022, followed by the Netherlands with 22 locations and Norway with 13.<sup>48</sup>
- Fast-charger installations in China grew more than 61% in 2022 – reaching a total of 760,000 – driven by government subsidies and by rapid deployment by public utilities.<sup>49</sup>
- The ratio of electric vehicles to charging points remained relatively constant between 2015 and 2022, at fewer than 10 vehicles per charging point in China, the Republic of Korea and the Netherlands.<sup>50</sup>
- In the United States, where growth in the electric vehicle fleet has outpaced the installation of public charging stations, the ratio of electric vehicles to charge points was 24 to 1 in 2022.<sup>51</sup> In Europe, the ratio was around 12 to 1 by year's end.<sup>52</sup>

In 2022 - and for the first time since 2013 - average global prices for electric vehicle batteries rose 7% due to higher material and energy costs during production (see Figure 2), a trend that could slow the global uptake of e-mobility solutions.<sup>53</sup> Battery price increases are expected to translate to overall increases in the price of electric vehicles, a deviation from the trajectory outlined in the previous edition of this report.

- The Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine impacted the production and price of electric vehicles, particularly in Europe.<sup>54</sup> Both countries are primary sources of elements needed in electric vehicle production, such as high-grade nickel, palladium and neon.<sup>55</sup> The effects of the war – including economic sanctions, damage to infrastructure and displacement of workers in Ukraine's electric vehicle industry – have all impacted the industry.<sup>56</sup>
- Prices of lithium-ion battery packs increased 7% in 2022, due mainly to the rising costs for input metals such as lithium, nickel, cobalt and manganese.<sup>57</sup> This was a reversal of the





long-term trend from 2010 to 2021, when battery prices fell 88% as the industry adopted lower-cost chemistries such as lithium iron phosphate (LFP), which were 30% cheaper than nickel manganese cobalt (NMC) cells.<sup>58</sup>

- Some predict that battery pack prices will continue to rise until 2026, while others suggest a sustained price of around USD 151 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) to 2024, when more lithium production is expected to come online.<sup>59</sup> However, a metaanalysis predicts a decrease to USD 132 per kWh by 2030 and USD 71 per kWh by 2050.<sup>60</sup>
- For the electric vehicles sold in 2018, the estimated material demand was 11 kilotonnes of lithium, 11 kilotonnes of manganese, 15 kilotonnes of cobalt and 34 kilotonnes of nickel.<sup>61</sup> The demand for these materials could increase 25- to 30-fold until 2030.<sup>62</sup>

Electric vehicle battery swapping systems have continued to grow globally. In 2021, the market was dominated by services catering to passenger electric vehicles, accounting for an estimated 57.5% of the total revenue and led by the increase in electric micro-mobility, such as e-scooters.<sup>63</sup>

 As of 2023, the Chinese manufacturer Nio had installed 10 battery swapping stations across Europe, and it aims to have 120 stations in the region by the end of 2023.<sup>64</sup>

- Gogoro, which introduced a Smartscooter that integrates battery swapping systems, reported more than 450,000 users across some 2,200 swapping stations; in Chinese Taipei, the stations are estimated to be available every 500 metres.<sup>65</sup>
- In 2022, North America accounted for a quarter of the total revenue from the electric vehicle battery swapping market.<sup>66</sup>

A major driver of future demand for electric vehicles is lower fuel costs, which were at least a third those of diesel and petrol in 2022.<sup>67</sup> Electric passenger cars released between 2021 to 2023 in the United States showed the lowest annual fuel costs per household among all fuel types (see Figure 3).<sup>68</sup> The average annual expenses for a conventional mid-size car were three times higher than for an electric car of the same size.<sup>69</sup>

## **Emission trends**

Global energy consumption for electric mobility increased 22% in 2022, with more than half (59%) of the demand coming from electric cars, followed by electric buses (21%), motorcycles (12%) and trucks (8%).<sup>70</sup> In total, these electric vehicle fleets consumed around 110 terawatt-hours of electricity in 2022.<sup>71</sup> The emission benefits of electric vehicles can be maximised by charging the vehicles using renewable-



FIGURE 3. Annual fuel cost for vehicle types in the United States, based on 2021-2023 models

based electricity.<sup>72</sup> This highlights the urgent need to integrate higher shares of renewable energy in the overall electricity mix.<sup>73</sup>

Fossil fuel dependency is a major issue in transport and needs to change quickly. Electricity is projected to become the dominant fuel in transport by the early 2040s.<sup>74</sup> Compared to other strategies to decarbonise transport, electrification of passenger vehicles (two- and four-wheelers) is "well underway" and is expected to advance exponentially.<sup>75</sup>

- In 2021, emissions from oil remained below pre-pandemic levels because global transport activity was limited.<sup>76</sup> As COVID-19 travel restrictions eased substantially in 2022, oilrelated CO<sub>2</sub> emissions rose an estimated 180 million tonnes.<sup>77</sup>
- Among 13 transport targets such as the development of public transport, cycling infrastructure, sustainable aviation fuels, etc. – only the two electrification targets (for electric light-duty vehicle sales and electric bus sales) are going in a promising direction, while all others are well off track.<sup>78</sup>

Aggressive emission reduction pathways aligned with the goal of keeping global warming below 1.5°C by 2050 feature a significant uptake of electric vehicles, with at least 80% of cars and small commercial vehicles being electric by 2050.<sup>79</sup>

 Under current policies, electric vehicles will avoid 700 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions annually by 2030.<sup>80</sup>
However, to reach net zero emissions by 2050, the emission savings need to surpass 1,100 million tonnes annually by 2030, with electric heavy-duty vehicles (buses and trucks) contributing 25% of the avoided emissions.<sup>81</sup>

- A 2022 study shows that to keep global warming below 1.5°C, automobile manufacturers have to halve their future sales of internal combustion engine vehicles (from a range of 546 to 778 million vehicles between 2020 and 2050, to 330 to 463 million).<sup>82</sup>
- The previous edition of this report suggested that envisioned electric vehicle production levels would not supply enough vehicles to meet government-set targets.<sup>83</sup> Although auto manufacturers have since increased their electric vehicle ambitions, the current estimate is that electric vehicles need to represent 52% of total vehicle production by 2029 to support the 1.5°C target (see Section 1.3.3 The Role of Business in Decarbonising Transport).<sup>84</sup>

Although the Russian Federation's invasion of Ukraine led to surging natural gas prices and greater demand for coal, the increased CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from coal have been curtailed by the more aggressive deployment of renewable energy technologies (such as solar photovoltaics and wind) and of electric vehicles.<sup>85</sup> Electric vehicles were also able to displace 567,000 barrels oil per day in 2022, a 59% increase compared to 2021 (see Figure 4).<sup>86</sup>



Source: See endnote 86 for this section.



**Oil displacement (in barrels per day)** 

- Electric vehicles alone enabled a net reduction of an estimated 80 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions (well-to-wheel emissions) in 2022, double the amount reduced in 2021.<sup>87</sup> Electric vehicles in China provided the biggest emission savings (30% of the total savings) in 2022.<sup>88</sup>
- A 2022 study found that in Germany, light-electric vehicles (such as scooters, e-bikes, motorcycles and small cars) could replace half of all kilometres driven by medium-sized fossil fuel cars, avoiding a total of 57 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions annually by 2030.<sup>89</sup>
- The electric bus fleet in Latin America saved 129,070 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> annually in 2021.<sup>90</sup> Two years later, in 2023, the savings had more than tripled, to 404, 190 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> annually.<sup>91</sup>

Overall, battery electric vehicles emit fewer life-cycle greenhouse gas emissions than fossil fuel-powered vehicles, especially when the vehicles are charged with low-carbon electricity.<sup>92</sup> However, critics have raised concerns about emissions released during the production and recycling of electric vehicles and their components, notably the batteries.<sup>93</sup>

A 2020 study found that, on average, even very inefficient electric vehicles release fewer life-cycle emissions than very efficient new petrol vehicles, if the average emission intensity of electricity is below 700 grams of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent per kilowatt-hour.<sup>94</sup> A passenger electric vehicles would result in a 29% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions on average (up to 1.5 gigatonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> annually).95

- These findings are consistent with a 2019 study showing that electric vehicles are poised to result in significant emission savings – even if these vehicles are assumed to have lower lifespans, which in turn reduces the operational emission savings (which in themselves are much lower than for fossilbased vehicles).<sup>96</sup>
- Electric vehicles, in combination with low-emission electricity, offer the largest potential for decarbonising land transport on a life-cycle basis, according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.<sup>97</sup> To address growing concerns about the impacts of batteries and the critical minerals needed to produce them, manufacturers can seek to diversify materials and supply, improve energy and material efficiency, and support greater circularity.<sup>98</sup>
- Researchers found that putting a price on indirect emissions (i.e., from electricity grids) can lead to an increase, rather than a decrease, in electric vehicle sales, which would bring additional opportunities to reduce both cumulative tailpipe and indirect emissions.<sup>99</sup>
- A 2022 study found that circular strategies could cut the emissions from materials used in vehicles (of all types) as much as 60% by 2040; currently, 78% of a vehicle is recyclable, but this share could be increased to 97% by 2040.<sup>100</sup>

## **Policy developments**

Electric vehicles are only one part of the broader transformation needed in transport and mobility systems worldwide to achieve both decarbonisation and sustainability goals, such as access to transport for all, safer roads, cleaner air and livable cities. This transformative change requires an integrated multi-modal, multi-level approach that addresses all aspects of the transport and mobility system.

- Providing high-quality public transport services and walking and cycling infrastructure is a core part of achieving access to transport for all. To enable this, densification characterised by compact city development can help with mixed-use, polycentric structures, and short travel distances.
- Sharing should include pooling and public transport feeder systems as well as access to shared cars and ride-hailing services. Pricing systems should be harmonised across these services and encourage the use of the most efficient options.
- ► For greater efficiency, drastically downsizing both the size and power of vehicles is vital – making electrification of the entire vehicle fleet both cost-effective and feasible. This is counter to the ongoing trend towards bigger, faster and more powerful cars, which has eradicated almost all efficiency gains in powertrain technologies. Electric vehicle concepts should focus on the most viable and resource-efficient solutions.

Electric vehicle uptake should be framed in a circular economy approach, including the end-of life recycling of batteries as well as the re-use and recovery of other materials (e.g., electronics, metals, minerals).<sup>101</sup> However, there are very few efforts in this direction.

In 2023, the EU approved new rules ensuring that the increased demand for electric vehicle batteries will be met by more environmentally sustainable batteries, with lower emissions and sourced from recycled materials.<sup>102</sup>

More jurisdictions are setting targets for phasing out fossilfuelled vehicles. As of April 2023, at least 41 countries or sub-national jurisdictions had set phase-out targets for vehicles with internal combustion engines, twice as many as in 2020.<sup>103</sup> As of 2020, only 19 countries or sub-national jurisdictions had set targets to phase out diesel and petrol passenger vehicles.<sup>104</sup>

Previously, many individual EU member countries (Austria, Denmark, France, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden) had set targets for phasing out internal combustion engine vehicles. In early 2023, the EU passed regionwide legislation to ban sales of new fossil fuel-powered cars and vans by 2035; Germany opposed the ban until the legislation allowed for the continued sale of combustion-engine cars running on synthetic e-fuels, which might still produce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.<sup>105</sup>

- In 2023, the EU proposed that only zero-emission buses could be sold in the region starting in 2030, and that by 2040 new trucks would need to produce at least 90% fewer CO<sub>2</sub> emissions compared to 2019 levels.<sup>106</sup>
- Chile in 2021 announced a target for 100% sales of zeroemission light-duty vehicles by 2035.<sup>107</sup>
- In 2023, the US Environmental Protection Agency proposed strengthening fuel economy standards 2% per year for passenger cars and 4% per year for light trucks from 2027 to 2032, in order to reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions 56% below 2026 levels by 2032.<sup>108</sup>
- In 2022, Canada moved its target for banning internal combustion engine cars forward by five years, from 2040 to 2035, including a medium-term zero-emission sales target of 20% by 2026; in addition, medium- and heavy-duty vehicles should be 35% electric by 2030 and 100% electric for certain categories by 2040.<sup>109</sup>
- California (USA) is one of the world's largest economies with a phase-out policy, targeting a phase-out of internal combustion engine passenger cars by 2035.<sup>110</sup> In 2023, California also set a target for half of all heavy-duty trucks sold in the state to be electric by 2035.<sup>111</sup>

Many policies related to transport and climate change have highlighted the electrification of buses and/or the procurement of new e-buses, with at least 20 countries announcing such measures during 2020-2022.<sup>112</sup>

- Most e-bus schemes target general public transport uses, as in Bogotá (Colombia), Hamburg (Germany) and Nepal; however, Canada and the United States have also targeted the electrification of school buses.<sup>113</sup>
- Several cities, such as Bogotá (Colombia) and São Paulo (Brazil) have banned the purchase of new diesel buses.<sup>114</sup>
- Berlin (Germany) and Santiago (Chile) are among the cities targeting 100% zero-emission bus fleets within the coming decades.<sup>115</sup> Other municipal targets for zero-emission bus fleets range from 20% to 80%.<sup>116</sup>
- India's FAME-II scheme aggregates demand for e-buses.<sup>117</sup> It enabled one of the largest tenders for electric buses in the world with 5,450 electric buses for five cities in 2022.<sup>118</sup> The Indian state of Tamil Nadu is targeting a 30% electric bus fleet by 2030.<sup>119</sup> In 2023, India launched the National Electric Bus Programme aiming to deploy 50,000 electric buses by 2027.<sup>120</sup>
- As of 2022, 37 cities had signed the C40 Green and Healthy Streets Declaration, pledging to only procure zero-emission buses starting in 2025.<sup>121</sup>
- Cambodia reduced its import duties on electric vehicles in 2021 and aims to electrify 40% of its urban buses by 2050.<sup>122</sup>

- Kenya is partnering with the EU to develop a network of five electric bus rapid transit lines – the first in East Africa – which are expected to enter service in 2030.<sup>123</sup>
- Viet Nam's transport sector action plan mentions that all new buses procured from 2025 will be zero-emission.<sup>124</sup>

## Policies related to the electrification of two- and three-wheelers are also increasing in all major regions.

- Various cities, including Mumbai (India) and Stockholm (Sweden), support the procurement of e-bikes for bike sharing purposes.<sup>125</sup>
- France offers incentives of up to EUR 4,000 (USD 4,310) to swap out an old polluting car with an e-bike.<sup>126</sup>
- Various countries, such as Guatemala, India, and Sudan, have enacted measures to convert diesel and petrol-powered threewheelers to electric.<sup>127</sup>
- To alleviate air pollution, Delhi (India) banned new registrations of diesel auto-rickshaws starting in 2023, and it plans to only allow natural gas-powered or electric rickshaws starting in 2027.<sup>128</sup>
- Uganda is partnering with SPIRO, a vehicle and battery design company, to roll out 140,000 electric motorbikes and up to 3,000 battery charging and swapping stations across the country.<sup>129</sup>



Some governments and other stakeholders have set concrete targets for electric vehicle charging infrastructure. In addition to expanding and funding national charging networks, several countries have encouraged charging infrastructure in homes and on other private property.

- England is reportedly incorporating mandatory electric vehicle charger requirements for new homes and buildings in its new building codes by 2023.<sup>130</sup> The United Kingdom aims to have 300,000 charging stations by 2030.<sup>131</sup>
- In October 2022, the European Parliament adopted minimum requirements for charging infrastructure as part of the Alternative Fuels Infrastructure Regulation; EU Member States are now required to build charging points along at least every 60 kilometres of motorways by 2026.<sup>132</sup>

Government subsidies for electric vehicles nearly doubled in 2021, approaching USD 30 billion globally.<sup>133</sup> Other economic instruments used to support uptake include tax rebates, feebates and bonus-malus schemes, in which governments incentivise zero- and low-emission vehicles while discouraging high-emission vehicles.<sup>134</sup>

- China extended its subsidy scheme for new energy vehicles, including electric vehicles, through 2022.<sup>135</sup> However, it reportedly cut these subsidies 30% that year.<sup>136</sup>
- The Republic of Korea introduced a subsidy scheme that applied to low-emission cars priced under KRW 90 million (USD 78,671) in 2021, and KRW 55 million (USD 48,077) in 2022.<sup>137</sup>
- In 2022, New Zealand started a feebate programme for battery electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles, which contributed to a large increase in electric vehicle sales following implementation.<sup>138</sup>

#### By the end of 2022, countries' climate strategies were highly favouring electric mobility over other types of actions to mitigate transport emissions.

- An estimated 55% of the second-generation Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) (79 NDCs) submitted by countries under the Paris Agreement feature e-mobility-related transport mitigation actions.<sup>139</sup>
- In the second-generation NDCs, the attention moved away from public transport actions and towards e-mobility actions, such that for every public transport action there are now two electric mobility actions mentioned.<sup>140</sup>
- The e-mobility actions feature a diversity of road transport modes, with buses and cars each representing 20% of all e-mobility actions mentioned (see Section 1.3.1 National Climate and Sustainability Strategies to Achieve the Targets of the Paris Agreement and the SDGs on Transport).<sup>141</sup>

- automobile markets and regions.
- At the 2021 United Nations (UN) Climate Change Conference in Glasgow, United Kingdom (COP 26), a declaration emerged on accelerating the transition to 100% zero-emission cars and vans; this action was later renamed the Accelerating to Zero Coalition at the 2022 UN Climate Change Conference in Sharm-el Sheikh, Egypt (COP 27).<sup>142</sup> The declaration, which had received well over 200 signatories by 2023, aims for all sales of new cars and vans to be zero emission by 2040.<sup>143</sup>
- Also at COP 26, a Memorandum of Understanding on Zero Emissions Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles was launched, with the goal of achieving 100% zero-emission new truck and bus sales by 2040.<sup>144</sup>

Leading automakers are projected to spend an estimated USD 1.2 trillion to 2030 to deliver up to 54 million electric vehicles (and the necessary batteries), accounting for 50% of total vehicle production.<sup>145</sup> As of 2023, however, only two auto manufacturers (Tesla and BYD) were seen as leaders in the zero-emission vehicle transition.<sup>146</sup> In addition, virtual power grids, which allow for aggregation of decentralised energy sources such as electric vehicles, are gaining traction.

- Volkswagen has announced that it will produce only electric vehicles in Europe as of 2033, and Mitsubishi aims to only sell electric vehicles by 2035; new vehicles manufactured by Jaguar will be all-electric by 2025, and by Land Rover by 2036.<sup>147</sup>
- In 2022, BMW announced an aim to sell more than 2 million electric vehicles in 2025 and to have 50% of its vehicles be electric by 2030.<sup>148</sup>
- In early 2023, Google, Ford, and General Motors, along with solar energy producers in the United States, announced a partnership to develop virtual power grids.<sup>149</sup>

There is a risk of an electric mobility divide between highincome countries and low- and middle-income countries, in the absence of electrification policies tailored at the economic and regional context. Historically, high-income countries have been responsible for the majority of greenhouse gas emissions, and they therefore have a responsibility to help low- and middle-income countries with vehicle electrification and overall transport decarbonisation.<sup>150</sup>

- The priority of low- and middle-income countries should be on accessible, affordable, inclusive, secure and safe transport options – with a focus on formal transport, e-bikes, and twoand three-wheelers.
- In 2022, Angola passed a law to half the import duty and vehicle tax for electric vehicles.<sup>151</sup> Many other countries have set tight import regulations (see Section 3.6 Road Transport).

- Chinese Taipei donated 10 electric buses to Paraguay in 2023 to kickstart that country's electric public transport fleet.<sup>152</sup>
- Sudan is actively working on retrofitting tuk-tuks to be solarpowered electric vehicles.<sup>153</sup>

## Partnership in action

- Through the Accelerating to Zero Coalition, established at COP 26 in 2021, more than 200 stakeholders – including governments, auto manufacturers, investors, financial institutions and fleet operators – committed to transition to 100% zero-emission cars and vans globally by 2040, and no later than 2035 in key markets.<sup>154</sup> Signatories also pledged to support emerging economies through technical assistance, finance and capacity building.<sup>155</sup>
- EV100 a global group of businesses committed to fleet electrification – has committed to deploying more than 5.5 million electric vehicles by 2030.<sup>156</sup>
- The Electric Vehicle Initiative's EV30@30 campaign, launched in 2017, set a goal of achieving 30% electric vehicle sales (including cars, buses and trucks) by 2030, with the support of 15 countries and more than 20 companies and organisations.<sup>157</sup>
- In 2021, 15 countries announced support for the Global Drive to Zero Campaign, committing to the first global Memorandum of Understanding on Zero Emissions Mediumand Heavy-Duty Vehicles, with the goal of achieving 2030 and 2040 targets for new electric truck and bus sales.<sup>158</sup> The signatories, representing around 5% of global medium- and heavy-duty vehicle sales, must report progress annually and develop plans to support their ambitions.<sup>159</sup>
- The TUMI E-Bus Mission assists 20 cities in creating worldleading electric bus fleets and scaling e-bus adoption to hundreds more through city-to-city mentorship.<sup>160</sup>
- The Zero Emission Bus Rapid- deployment Accelerator (ZEBRA) Partnership was established by C40 and International Council on Clean Transportation to accelerate the deployment of zero emission buses in major Latin American cities.<sup>161</sup>
- The Zero Emission Vehicles Transition Council was established by the UK COP26 Presidency as the world's first political forum to discuss how to accelerate the pace of the global transition to zero emission vehicles.<sup>162</sup> The forum consisted ministers and government representatives from the world's largest and most progressive automotive markets, collectively accounting for more than half of all new car sales globally.

## Endnotes

#### 4.1 Transport Energy Sources

- World Health Organization (2022), "Ambient (outdoor) air pollution", 19 December, https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambi ent-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health.
- 2 Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century (REN21) (2022), "Renewables 2022 Global Status Report", https://www.ren21.net/gsr-2022; REN21 and FIA Foundation (2020), "Renewable Energy Pathways in Road Transport", 18 November, https://www.ren21.net/2020-re-pathwaysin-road-transport; International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) (2022), "Life-cycle analysis of greenhouse gas emissions of hydrogen, and recommendations for China", 19 October, https:// theicct.org/publication/china-fuels-lca-ghgs-hydrogen-oct22.
- 3 International Energy Agency (IEA) (2022), "Transport", https://www.iea.org/reports/transport; electricity use was split into fossil fuel-based and renewables using the global share of renewables in electricity and heat generation, from IEA (2022), "Energy Statistics Data Browser", https:// www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/energy-statistics-data-browser; trends over the past decade from REN21 (2023), "Renewables 2023 Global Status Report: Energy Demand Modules", p. 40, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/GSR2023\_Demand\_Modules.pdf.
- 4 IEA (2022), "Global EV Outlook 2022", https://iea. blob.core.windows.net/assets/ad8fb04c-4f75-42fc-973a-6e54c8a4449a/GlobalElectricVehicle-Outlook2022.pdf; WHICHCAR (2022), "How many cars are there in the world?" 23 April, https://www. whichcar.com.au/news/how-many-cars-are-therein-the-world; Our World in Data (2023), "Share of electricity production from renewables, 2022", https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/share-electricity-renewables, accessed 5 June 2023.
- 5 IEA (2023), "Aviation", https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport/aviation.
- 6 F. Bergk et al. (2016), "Klimaschutzbeitrag des Verkehrs bis 2050", Umwelt Bundesamt, https:// www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/klimaschutzbeitrag-des-verkehrs-bis-2050; SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2020), "Global Transport and Climate Change in Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report, Second Edition", https://tcc-gsr.com/ wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Slocat-Global-Status-Report-2nd-edition.pdf.
- 7 S. Teske, S. Niklas and R. Langdon (2021), "TUMI Transport Outlook 1.5"C - A global scenario to decarbonise transport", Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative, https://www.transformative-mobility. org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/TUMI-Transport-Outlook-So11tB.pdf.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 REN21 (2023), "Renewables 2023 Global Status Report: Transport in Focus", https://www.ren21. net/gsr-2023/modules/energy\_demand/03\_transport\_in\_focus; WHICHCAR, op. cit. note 4; Our World in Data, op. cit. note 4.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 IEA, "Energy Statistics Data Browser", op. cit. note 3; Figure 1 from I IEA, "Transport", op. cit. note 3.
- 12 IEA (2021), "Oil Market Report", 13 July, https:// iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/d54cfc69-ed0f 44ed-b1fe-ad63b2259456/-13JULY2022\_OilMarketReport.pdf
- 13 IEA (2022), "Oil Market Report", 14 December, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/8220f981-4820-42ae-ab81-2156627243d8/-14DEC2022\_OilMarketReport.pdf

#### 14 Ibid.

- 15 IEA, op. cit. note 12; IEA, op. cit. note 13.
- 16 IEA (2022), "World Energy Outlook 2022", https:// iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/830fe099-5530-48f2-a7c1-11f35d510983/WorldEnergyOutlook2022.pdf; IEA (2022), "Oil Market Report", 13 April, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ eb61211f-1248-4a94-b146-e87e13aa067a/-13APR2022\_OilMarketReport\_.pdf.
- 17 IEA (2022), "Cars and Vans Subsector Tracking Report", https://www.iea.org/reports/cars-and-vans; IEA (2022), "Global EV Data Explorer", https://www. iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/global-ev-data-explorer.
- 18 Ibid. Figure 2 from IEA, op. cit. note 17.
- 19 Global Fuel Economy Initiative (2020), "Vehicle Efficiency and Electrification: A Global Status Report", https://www.globalfueleconomy.org/ media/791561/gfei-global-status-report-2020.pdf; IEA, "Cars and Vans Subsector Tracking Report", op. cit. note 17.
- 20 L. Cozzi and A. Petropoulos (2021), "Carbon emissions fell across all sectors in 2020 except for one – SUVs", IEA, 15 January, https://www.iea.org/ commentaries/carbon-emissions-fell-across-all-sectors-in-2020-except-for-one-suvs.
- 21 International Transport Forum (2021), "Cleaner Vehicles: Achieving a Resilient Technology Transition", https://www.iff-oecd.org/sites/default/ files/docs/cleaner-vehicles-technology-transition. pdf; Agora Verkehrswende, Agora Energiewende and Frontier Economics (2018), "The Future Cost of Electricity-Based Synthetic Fuels", https://www. agora-verkehrswende.de/en/publications/the-future-cost-of-electricity-based-synthetic-fuels. Table 1 from International Transport Forum, op. cit. this note.
- 22 Transport & Environment (2023), "Hydrogen & efuels", https://www.transportenvironment.org/ challenges/energy/hydrogen-efuels.
- 23 Figure 3 from IEA (2022), "World Energy Statistics", https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/world-energy-statistics (accessed 6 June 2022.)
- 24 European Automobile Manufacturers' Association (ACEA) (2023), "Fuel types of new passenger cars in the EU", 18 May, https://www.acea.auto/figure/ fuel-types-of-new-passenger-cars-in-eu.
- 25 IEA, "Transport", op. cit. note 3.
- 26 IEA (2022), "Trucks and Buses", https://www.iea. org/reports/trucks-and-buses.
- 27 IEA (2021), "India Energy Outlook", https://iea.blob. core.windows.net/assets/1de6d91e-e23f-4e02b1fb-51fdd6283b22/India\_Energy\_Outlook\_2021. pdf.
- 28 IEA, "Transport", op. cit. note 3.
- 29 REN21, op. cit. note 2.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 Figure 4 from Ibid.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Transport & Environment, op. cit. note 22.
- 34 Transport & Environment (2023), "EU defines what makes hydrogen 'green'", 13 February, https:// www.transportenvironment.org/discover/eu-defines-what-makes-hydrogen-green; REN21, op. cit. note 3.
- 35 REN21, op. cit. note 3.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.

- 38 R. Lillie and T. Plakhotniuk (2023), "Green Hydrogen: The Impact on Transport and Energy", RBS International, https://www.rbsinternational.com/ insights/2023/01/green-hydrogen-the-impact-ontransport-and-energy.html.
- 39 International Energy Agency (IEA), Global EV Outlook 2022, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/ assets/ad8fb04c-4f75-42fc-973a-6e54c8a4449a/ GlobalElectricVehicleOutlook2022.pdf; WHICH-CAR(2022), "How many cars are there in the world?", 23 April, https://www.whichcar.com.au/ news/how-many-cars-are-there-in-the-world
- 40 Figure 5 from IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer", op. cit. note 17; IEA, "Energy Statistics Data Browser", op. cit. note 3.
- 41 Ibid., both references.
- 42 IEA (2022), "Rail Subsector Tracking Report",
- https://www.iea.org/reports/rail.
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 World Economic Forum (2020), "New Zealand's first electric plane just completed the longest flight across water: Here's what's happening with electric aviation", 9 November, https://www.weforum. org/agenda/2020/11/electric-planes-aviation-future-innovation; Airbus (2023), "Hybrid and electric flight: Laying the groundwork for decarbonising aviation", https://www.airbus.com/en/innovation/ zero-emission-journey/electric-flight, accessed 12 January 2023.
- 45 B. Jeong et al. (2022), "Is electric battery propulsion for ships truly the lifecycle energy solution for marine environmental protection as a whole?" *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 355, https://doi. org/10.1016/i.jclepro.2022.131756.
- 46 Our World in Data, op. cit. note 4.

47 Ibid.

- 48 REN21 (2021), "Renewables 2021 Global Status Report", https://www.ren21.net/gsr-2021/chapters/ chapter\_01/chapter\_01/#sub\_8.
- 49 International Air Transport Association (IATA) (2022), "2022 SAF production increases 200% – more incentives needed to reach net zero", https://www.iata.org/en/pressroom/2022-releases/2022-12-07-01.
- 50 IEA, op. cit. note 5.
- 51 International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) (2022), "Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF)", https:// www.icao.int/environmental-protection/pages/SAF. aspx.

52 Ibid.

- 53 IEA (2022), "Global CO2 emissions from transport by subsector, 2000-2030", 26 October, https:// www.iea.org/date-and-statistics/charts/global-co2emissions-from-transport-by-subsector-2000-2030.
- 54 European Environment Agency (2022), "Transport and environment report 2021: Decarbonising road transport — the role of vehicles, fuels and transport demand", https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/transport-and-environment-report-2021
- 55 Figure 6 from European Environment Agency (2022), "Transport and environment report 2021: Decarbonising road transport — the role of vehicles, fuels and transport demand", https://www. eea.europa.eu/publications/transport-and-environment-report-2021.
- 56 International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) and International Labour Organization (ILO) (2022), "Renewable Energy and Jobs: Annual Review 2022", https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/ Agency/Publication/2022/Sep/IRENA\_Renewable\_energy\_and\_jobs\_2022.pdf.

- 57 Ibid.
- 58 Council for Decarbonising Asia (2022), "The Path to Zero: A Vision for Decarbonised Transport in Asia", NDC Transport Initiative for Asia, https:// councilreport.ndctransportinitiativeforasia.org.
- 59 Social Progress Imperative (2022), "Just Transition Score", p. 3, https://www.socialprogress.org/static/ e1977d5b833d24ddcfd4a0ad381262f9/Just%20 Transition%20Score%20-%20Social%20Progress%20Imperative-%202022.pdf; IRENA and ILO, op. cit. note 56, pp. 32-46.
- 60 ICCT (2021), "Ambitious yet Feasible: Vision 2050 Scenario", 30 June, https://theicct.org/ambitious-yet-feasible-video-jun21.
- 61 Figure 7 from ICCT (2020), "Vision 2050: A Strategy to Decarbonize the Global Transport Sector by Mid-Century", https://theicct.org/vision-2050.
- 62 ICCT, op. cit. note 61
- 63 Ibid.
- ICCT (2022), "Passenger vehicle greenhouse gas 64 emissions and fuel consumption", https://thei org/pv-fuel-economy; Swiss Federal Office of Energy (2022), "CO2 emission regulations for new cars and light commercial vehicles", 6 November, https://www.bfe.admin.ch/bfe/en/home/efficiency/ mobility/co2-emission-regulations-for-new-carse and-light-commercial-vehicles.html: UK Department of Transport (2020), "CO2 emission performance standards for new passenger cars and light commercial vehicles", 13 October, https://www.gov uk/government/consultations/regulating-co2-emission-standards-for-new-cars-and-vans-after-transition/co2-emission-performance-standards-for-new passenger-cars-and-light-commercial-vehicles.
- 65 Figure 8 from ICCT, op. cit. note 64.
- 66 O. Delgado and S. Pettigrew (2022), "New legislation in Chile shows climate leadership", ICCT, 25 April, https://theicct.org/chile-latam-lvs-leg-enapr22.
- 67 US Department of Transportation (2022), "USDOT announces new vehicle fuel economy standards for model year 2024-2026", 1 April, https://www. transportation.gov/briefing-room/usdot-announces-new-vehicle-fuel-economy-standards-model-year-2024-2026.
- 68 European Commission (2022), "CO2 emission performance standards for cars and vans", https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/european-green-deal/ delivering-european-green-deal/co2-emission-performance-standards-cars-and-vans\_en; European Council (2023), "Timeline – European Green Deal and Fit for 55", https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ en/policies/green-deal/timeline-european-greendeal-and-fit-for-55, accessed 4 April 2023.
- 69 N. Hirose (2021), "Malaysia issues standard for energy efficient vehicle certificate", EnvilianceAsia, 23 June, https://enviliance.com/regions/ southeast-asia/my/report\_2906; K. Aoki (2022), "Malaysia to consider mandatory labeling of carbon emissions for road vehicles", EnvilianceAsia, 1 September, https://enviliance.com/regions/southeast-asia/my/report\_7833.
- 70 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2020), "Used Vehicles and the Environment", https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-trade-used-vehicles-report; UNEP (2021), "Used Vehicles and the Environment – Update and Progress 2021", http://airqualityandmobility.org/ usedvehicles/usedvehicles\_updatereport2021.pdf.
- 71 Waka Kotahi New Zealand Transport Agency (2023), "Clean Car Standard overview", https:// www.nzta.govt.nz/vehicles/clean-car-programme/ clean-car-standard/overview, accessed 2 March 2023.
- 72 Ibid.
- 73 UNEP, "Used Vehicles and the Environment Update and Progress 2021", op. cit. note 71.
- 74 A. Kitimo (2023), "Transporters protest ban on used trucks", Nation, 9 January, https://nation.africa/ kenya/business/technology/transporters-protestban-on-used-trucks-4080012.

- 75 O. Guguyu (2022), "Uganda import rule boosts Kenya car dealers", Nation, 12 April, https://nation. africa/kenya/business/uganda-import-rule-boostskenya-car-dealers-3779302.
- 76 IEA (2021), "Fuel Economy in Brazil: Technology Report", https://www.iea.org/articles/fuel-economy-in-brazil.
- 77 Although the United Kingdom continues to apply EU standards, it is not yet clear whether it would continue to follow proposed changes to EU regulations; see Government of the United Kingdom (2020), "The New Heavy Duty Vehicles (Carbon Dioxide Emission Performance Standards) (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020", https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1402/regulation/3/made; IEA (2022), "Trucks and Buses Tracking Report", https://www.lea.org/reports/trucks-and-buses.
- 78 European Commission (2023), "Reducing CO2 emissions from heavy-duty vehicles", https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/transport-emissions/ road-transport-reducing-co2-emissions-vehicles/ reducing-co2-emissions-heavy-duty-vehicles\_en, accessed 8 June 2023.
- 79 S. Pettigrew (2022), "Fuel economy standards and zero-emission vehicle targets in Chile", ICCT, https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ lat-am-lvs-hvs-chile-EN-aug22.pdf.
- 80 New Zealand Transport Agency (2022), "Requirements for urban buses in New Zealand", https:// www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/requirements-for-urban-buses.
- 81 DriveToZero (2023), "Global Memorandum of Understanding on Zero-Emission Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles", https://globaldrivetozero. org/mou-nations, accessed 2 March 2023.
- 82 B. Sharpe and D. Schaller (2021), "Analysis of heavy-duty vehicle fuel efficiency technology uptake in California and Canada", ICCT, https:// theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/HDV-fuel-efficiency-tech-California-Canada-apr2021.pdf.
- 83 CleanAirAsia (2022), "Policies on vehicle emission decarbonization efforts take limelight in fuel economy event" 23 June, https://cleanairasia.org/our-news/policies-vehicle-emission-decarboniza-tion-efforts-take-limelight-fuel-economy-event.
- 84 Ibid.
- 85 Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority (2022), "The Vehicle Fuel Economy Label is changing", https://www.eeca.govt.nz/regulations/ vehicle-emissions-and-energy-economy-labelling-programme/the-vehicle-fuel-economy-label-is-changing.
- 86 A. Lertsirirungsun (2022), "The success and failure of Indonesia's new car tax reforms", LMC Automotive, 26 August, https://lmc-auto.com/newsand-insights/the-success-and-failure-of-indonesiasnew-car-tax-reforms.
- 87 REN21 (2023), "Renewables 2023 Global Status Report: Demand Modules Data Pack", https://www. ren21.net/gsr2023-data-pack, accessed 4 June 2023.
- 88 Government of Canada (2023), "Clean Fuel Regulations", 17 February, https://www.canada.ca/ en/environment-climate-change/services/managing-pollution/energy-production/fuel-regulations/ clean-fuel-regulations.html.
- 89 Government of the United Kingdom (2022), "Guidance: E10 petrol explained", GOV.UK, 2 November, https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e10-petrol-explained.
- 90 Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas (2021), "Roadmap for Ethanol Blending in India 2020-25: Report of the Expert Committee", NITI Aayog, https://niti.gov.in/sites/default/files/2021-06/EthanolBlendingInIndia\_compressed.pdf; J. O'Malley and S. Searle (2021), "India, don't fall for ethanol: Roadmap leads National Policy on Biofuels off track", ICCT, 26 August, https://theicct.org/india dont-fall-for-ethanol-roadmap-leads-national-policy-on-biofuels-off-track.
- 91 Enerdata (2021), "Argentina halves biodiesel mandate to 5%", 20 July, https://www.enerdata

net/publications/daily-energy-news/rgentina-halves-biodiesel-mandate-5.html.

- 92 Argentina.gob.ar (2022), "Martínez: 'Más Biodiesel, Refinerías a plena producción, más facilidades para importar, más controles'", 16 June, https:// www.argentina.gob.ar/noticias/martinez-mas-biodiesel-refinerias-plena-produccion-mas-facilidades-para-importar-mas; Argentina.gob.ar (2022), "Se puso en marcha una Comisión Especial de Biocombustible para 'dar previsibilidad y certidumbre al sector", 19 October, https://www.argentina.gob. ar/noticias/se-puso-en-marcha-una-comision-especial-de-biocombustible-para-dar-previsibilidad-y.
- 93 J. Lane (2023), "The Daily Digest's Biofuels Mandates Around the World 2023 – Brazil", The Digest, 2 January, https://www.biofuelsdigest.com/ bdigest/2023/01/02/the-daily-digests-biofuelsmandates-around-the-world-2023/5.
- 94 A.L. Lopes Toledo, personal communication with SLOCAT, 25 April 2023; Brazil National Agency for Petroleum, Natural Gas and Biofuels (2023), "RenovaBio", Ministry of Mines and Energy, 4 March, https://www.gov.br/anp/pt-br/assuntos/renovabio.

95 Ibid.

- 96 Government of Finland (2022), "Press release: Lower distribution obligation for transport fuels to continue in 2023", 19 September, https://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/-/1410877/lower-distribution-obligation-for-transport-fuels-to-continue-in-2023; J. McGarrity (2022), "New relaxations on blending mandates could reduce biofuels demand", Fastmarkets, 13 April, https://www.fastmarkets. com/insights/new-relaxations-on-blending-mandates-could-reduce-biofuels-demand.
- 97 Ibid., both references.
- 98 Enerdata (2021), "Malaysia delays B20 biodiesel mandate in transport sector to 2022", 11 January, https://www.enerdata.net/publications/ daily-energy-news/malaysia-delays-b20-biodiesel-mandate-transport-sector-2022.html; Biofuels International (2022), "Malaysia aims to implement B20 biodiesel mandate by end of 2022", 5 January, https://biofuels-news.com/news/malaysia-aims-toimplement-b20-biodiesel-mandate-by-end-of-2022.
- 99 US Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service (2022), "Colombia Biofuels Annual", https:// apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFileName?fileNama=Biofuels%20 Annual\_Bogota\_Colombia\_CO2022-0012.pdf; Bangkok Post (2022), "Energy committee restricts options to biodiesel B5", 1 February, https://www. bangkokpost.com/business/2257099/energy-committee-restricts-options-to-biodiesel-b5.
- 100 US Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service (2022), "Biofuel Mandates in the EU by Member State - 2022", https://apps.fas.usda.gov/ newgainapi/api/Report/DownloadReportByFile-Name?fileName=Biofuel%20Mandates%20in%20 the%20EU%20by%20Member%20State%20-%20 2022\_Berlin\_European%20Union\_E42022-0044. pdf, REN21, op. cit. note 87, Figure 10.
- 101 REN21, op. cit. note 87.
- 102 L. Moffitt (2022), "South Korea to boost domestic biofuels use", Argus Media, 14 October, https:// www.argusmedia.com/en/news/2380561-southkorea-to-boost-domestic-biofuels-use.
- 103 M. Koster et al. (2022), "Overview of biofuels policies and markets across the EU", ePURE, https://www.epure.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/221011-DEF-REP-Overview-ofbiofuels-policies-and-markets-across-the-EU-October-2022.pdf.
- 104 Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment (2023), "Biofuels and the sustainable biofuel obligation", https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natural-resources/ energy-generation-and-markets/liquid-fuel-market/ biofuels, accessed 20 March 2023.
- 105 US Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service (2022), "Indonesia: Biofuels Annual", https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/Report/ DownloadReportByFileName?fileName=Biofu-

els%20Annual\_Jakarta\_Indonesia\_ID2022-0017. pdf.

106 Eswatini (2022), "First Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)", United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), https:// ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ ip\_22\_7609; Guatemala (2022), "Contribución Nacionalmente Determinada de Guatemala (Updated submission)", UNFCCC, https://unfccc.int/ node/499594; Lao People's Democratic Republic (2021), "Nationally Determined Contribution", UNFCCC, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/ NDC/2022-06/NDC%202020%200f%20Lao%20 PDR%20%28English%29%2C%2009%20April%20 2021%20%281%29,pdf; Malawi (2022), "Nationally determined contributions (NDCs)", UNFCCC, https://unfccc.int/documents/497772; Mali (2022), "Nationally determined contributions (NDCs)", UNFCCC, https://unfccc.int/documents/499564; Vanuatu (2022), "Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)", UNFCCC, https://unfccc.int/ documents/578782.

- 107 SLOCAT and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) (2022), "Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport", https://changing-transport.org/tracker; REN21, op. cit. note 2.
- 108 European Commission (2022), "European Green Deal: New rules agreed on applying the EU emissions trading system in the aviation sector", 9 December, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_22\_7609.
- 109 European Council (2023), "Fit for 55", https://www. consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/green-deal/fit-for-

55-the-eu-plan-for-a-green-transition, accessed 4 April 2023.

- 110 European Council (2022), "Fit for 55 package: Council adopts its position on three texts relating to the transport sector", 2 June, https://www. consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/06/02/fit-for-55-package-council-adoptsits-position-on-three-texts-relating-to-the-transportsector.
- 111 UK Department for Transport (2023), "Pathway to net zero aviation: Developing the UK sustainable aviation fuel mandate", https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment\_data/file/1147350/pathway-to-net-zero-aviation-developing-the-uk-sustainable-aviation-fuel-mandate.pdf.

#### 4.2 VEHICLE TECHNOLOGIES

- M. Knoope and L. Krabbenborg (2023), "Urban Distribution with Cargo Bikes and Other LEFVs: An Initial Study", Netherlands Ministry of Water and Infrastructure Management, https://english.kimnet. nl/publications/publications/2023/01/09/urbandistribution-with-cargo-bikes-and-other-lefvs.
- 2 Institute for Transportation and Development Policy and University of California at Davis (2021), "The Compact City Scenario - Electrified the Only Way to 1.5°C", https://www.itdp.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/12/EN\_Compact-Cities-BRIEF\_SIN-GLEPAGE.pdf.
- 3 United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2018), "Accelerating SDG 7 Achievement: Policy Brief 16 Interlinkages Between Energy and Transport", https://sustainabledevelopment. un.org/content/documents/17501PB16.pdf.
- 4 IEA (2022), "Global EV Outlook 2022", https://www. iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2022.
- 5 IEA (2023), "Global EV Outlook 2023", https://www. iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2023.
- 6 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4; IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 7 Figure 1 from IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5
- 8 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 9 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5; L. Paoli and T. Gül (2022), "Electric cars fend off supply challenges to more than double global sales", IEA, 30 January, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/electric-cars-fend-off-supply-challengesto-more-than-double-global-sales.
- 10 IEA (2023), "Passenger car sales, 2010-2022", 20 February, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/ charts/passenger-car-sales-2010-2022
- 11 A. Ajanovic (2022), The impact of COVID 19 on the market prospects of electric passenger cars, WIREs Energy and Environment, Vol. 11, No. 5, https://doi. org/10.1002/wene.451.
- 12 M.J. Nieuwenhuijsen, O. Hahad and T. Münzel (2021), "The COVID-19 pandemic as a starting point to accelerate improvements in health in our cities through better urban and transport planning", *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, Vol. 29, No. 12, pp. 16783-85, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-021-18364-8.
- 13 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", https:// www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/global-ev-data-explorer.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4; WHICHCAR (2022), "How many cars are there in the world?" 23 April, https://www.whichcar.com. au/news/how-many-cars-are-there-in-the-world.
- 16 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13.
- 17 Climate Group (2022), "5.5 million vehicles committed to electric by global businesses", 23 March, https://www.theclimategroup.org/our-work/ news/55-million-vehicles-committed-electric-global-businesses.
- 18 Climate Group EV100 (2022), "EV100 Progress and Insights Report", https://www.theclimategroup.org/ sites/default/files/2022-03/EV100%20Progress%20 and%20Insights%20Report%202022\_0.pdf.
- 19 Transport & Environment (2023), "Company cars: Corporate fleets are low-hanging fruit in the decarbonisation of road transport", https://www. transportenvironment.org/challenges/cars/company-cars, accessed 8 August 2023.
- 20 E. Wong (2022), "Electric four-wheel vehicles are the fastest growing sector of the clean energy industry", rest of world, 8 September, https://restofworld.org/2022/scooters-and-3-wheelers-are-reallywhats-driving-an-ev-revolution.
- 21 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.

- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4.
- 26 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13.
- 27 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13.
- 31 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 32 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4.
- 33 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 34 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4.
- 35 European Commission, "Vehicles and fleet", European Alternative Fuels Observatory, https:// alternative-fuels-observatory.ec.europa.eu/ transport-mode/road/european-union-eu27/vehicles-and-fleet, accessed 8 August 2023.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Sustainable Bus (2022), "Electric bus, main fleets and projects around the world", 16 January, https:// www.sustainable-bus.com/electric-bus/electricbus-public-transport-main-fleets-projects-aroundworld.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2021), "Used Vehicles and the Environment: A Global Overview of Used Light Duty Vehicles: Update and Progress 2021", http://airqualityandmobility.org/usedvehicles/usedvehicles\_updatereport2021.pdf.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 42 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13
- 47 European Commission, "European Union (EU27)", European Alternative Fuels Observatory, https:// alternative-fuels-observatory.ec.europa.eu/transport-mode/road/european-union-eu27, accessed 18 August 2023.
- 48 Statista (2023), "Topic: Electric Vehicles Worldwide", https://www.statista.com/outlook/mmo/ electric-vehicles/worldwide, accessed 18 August 2023.
- 49 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 Ibid.
- 52 European Commission, "European Union (EU27)", op. cit. note 47.
- 53 Figure 2 from BloombergNEF (2022), "Lithium-ion battery pack prices rise for first time to an average of \$151/kWh", 6 December, https://about.bnef. com/blog/lithium-ion-battery-pack-prices-rise-forfirst-time-to-an-average-of-151-kwh.
- 54 W.N., D. (2022), "How has the Russia-Ukraine war affected the e-mobility industry in the UK and EU?" Linkedin, 5 September, https://www.linkedin.com/ pulse/how-has-russia-ukraine-war-affected-e-mobility-uk-eu-nama-njobyu-.
- 55 Ibid.; D. Ravichandran (2022), "Russia-Ukraine conflict exposes risks in EV supply chains", Emerging Technology News, 10 May, https://etn.news/e-mobility-blogs/russia-ukraine-conflict-exposes-risks-inev-supply-chains.

- 56 S. Shetty (2022), "Opinion: Impact of the Russia-Ukraine war on the global EV industry", EMobility+, 27 May, https://emobilityplus.com/2022/05/27/ opinion-impact-of-the-russia-ukraine-war-on-theglobal-ev-industry.
- 57 BloombergNEF (2022), "Lithium-ion battery pack prices rise for first time to an average of \$151/kWh", 6 December, https://about.bnef.com/blog/lithiumion-battery-pack-prices-rise-for-first-time-to-an-average-of-151-kwh.
- 58 V. Henze (2021), "Battery pack prices fall to an average of \$132/kWh, but rising commodity prices start to bite", BloombergNEF, 30 November, https:// about.bnef.com/blog/battery-pack-prices-fall-to-anaverage-of-132-kwh-but-rising-commodity-pricesstart-to-bite.
- 59 P. LeBeau (2022), "EV battery costs could spike 22% by 2026 as raw material shortages drag on", CNBC, 18 May, https://www.chbc.com/2022/05/18/ ev-battery-costs-set-to-spike-as-raw-material-shortages-drags-on.html; D.R. Baker (2022), "EV transition threatened as battery prices rise for first time", Bloomberg, 6 December, https://www.bloomberg. com/news/articles/2022-12-06/battery-pricesclimb-for-first-time-just-as-more-evs-hit-market.
- 60 L. Mauler et al. (2021), "Battery cost forecasting: A review of methods and results with an outlook to 2050", Energy & Environmental Science, Vol. 14, pp. 4712-4739, https://doi.org/10.1039/D1EE01530C.
- 61 P. Jaramillo et al. (2022), "Transport", in IPCC (2022), "Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change", https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ sixth-assessment-report-working-group-3.
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Astute Analytica (2022), "Electric vehicle battery swapping market report 2022-2030", 11 November, https://www.astuteanalytica.com/industry-report/ electric-vehicle-battery-swapping-market.
- 64 C. Hampel (2023), "Nio counts 10 battery swapping stations in Europe", Electrive, 3 January, https://www.electrive.com/2023/01/03/nio-counts-10-battery-swapping-stations-in-europe.
- 65 Astute Analytica, op. cit. note 63; Asian Development Bank (2022), "Electric Motorcycle Charging Infrastructure Road Map for Indonesia", https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publica-tion/830831/electric-motorcycle-charging-infrastructure-indonesia.pdf.
- 66 Astute Analytica, op. cit. note 63.
- 67 U.S. Department of Energy and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2022), "Fuel Economy data", https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/download.shtml, accessed 18 August 2023
- 68 Figure 3 from Ibid.
- 69 Ibid.
- 70 IEA (2023), "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 71 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools," op. cit. note 13
- 72 Jaramillo et al., op. cit. note 61.
- 73 IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13.
- 74 IEA (2021), "Net Zero by 2050", https://www.iea. org/reports/net-zero-by-2050.
- 75 Jaramillo et al., op. cit. note 61.
- 76 IEA (2021), "Global Energy Review 2021 Analysis", https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2021.
- 77 IEA (2022), "Defying expectations, CO2 emissions from global fossil fuel combustion are set to grow in 2022 by only a fraction of last year's big increase", 19 October, https://www.iea.org/news/ defying-expectations-co2-emissions-from-globalfossil-fuel-combustion-are-set-to-grow-in-2022-byonly-a-fraction-of-last-year-s-big-increase.

- ICCAT TRANSPORT, CLIMATE AND SUSTAINABILITY GLOBAL STATUS REPORT
- 78 World Resources Institute (2022), "Transport, Systems Change Lab", https://systemschangelab.org/ transport.
- 79 Jaramillo et al. (2022), op. cit. note 61.
- 80 IEA (2023), "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 81 IEA (2023), "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 82 S. Teske et al. (2022), "The Internal Combustion Engine Bubble", Greenpeace, https://www.greenpeace.de/publikationen/ICE-Bubble\_2.pdf.
- 83 SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2021), "Tracking Trends in a Time of Change: The Need for Radical Action Towards Sustainable Transport Decarbonisation, Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report - 2nd Edition", www.tcc-gsr.com.
- 84 InfluenceMap (2023), "Automotive Climate Tool", https://automotive.influencemap.org, updated January 2023.
- 85 IEA (2022), "Defying expectations, CO2 emissions from global fossil fuel combustion are set to grow in 2022 by only a fraction of last year's big increase", 19 October, https://www.iea.org/news/ defying-expectations-co2-emissions-from-globalfossil-fuel-combustion-are-set-to-grow-in-2022-byonly-a-fraction-of-last-year-s-big-increase
- 86 Figure 4 from IEA, "Global EV Data Explorer Data Tools", op. cit. note 13.
- 87 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2022", op. cit. note 4; IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.
- 88 Ibid.
- 89 LEVA (2022), "44% = 57 million tonnes CO2 eq per year", https://leva-eu.com/44-57-million-tonnesco2-eq-per-year.
- 90 SLOCAT Partnership on Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport (2021), op. cit. note 83.
- 91 E-Bus Radar (2023), "Latin America", https://www. ebusradar.org/en, accessed 15 August 2023.
- 92 Jaramillo et al., op. cit. note 61.
- 93 J.P Skeete et al. (2020), Beyond the EVent horizon: Battery waste, recycling, and sustainability in the United Kingdom electric vehicle transition, *Energy Research & Social Science*, Vol. 69, https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S2214629620301572
- 94 F. Knobloch et al. (2020), "Net emission reductions from electric cars and heat pumps in 59 world regions over time", *Nature Sustainability*, Vol. 3, No. 6, pp. 437-47, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0488-7.
- 95 Ibid.
- 96 Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2022), "Are electric vehicles definitely better for the climate than gas-powered cars?" MIT Climate Portal, https://climate.mit.edu/ask-mit/are-electric-vehicles-definitely-better-climate-gas-powered-cars.
- 97 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2022), "Summary for Policymakers", in "Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change", https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC\_AR6\_WGIII\_SummaryForPolicymakers.pdf.
- 98 Ibid.
- 99 P. Wolfram et al. (2021), "Pricing indirect emissions accelerates low-carbon transition of US light vehicle sector", Nature Communications, Vol. 12, No. 1, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27247-y.
- 100 J. Davis-Peccoud, H. Morrison and B. Noack (2022), "Circular strategies could cut emissions from materials used in vehicles by 60% by 2040", Bain & Company, https://www.bain.com/about/media-center/press-releases/2022/circular-strategies-couldcut-emissions-from-materials-used-in-vehicles-by-60--by-2040-bain-company-analysis.
- 101 J. L. Richter (2022), "A circular economy approach is needed for electric vehicles", Nature Electronics,

Vol. 5, Pages 5-7, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41928-021-00711-9; or European Environment Agency (EEA), 2018, Electric vehicles from life cycle and circular economy perspectives, TERM 2018: Transport and Environment Reporting Mechanism (TERM) report, https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/electric-vehicles-from-life-cycle

- 102 Reuters (2023), "EU lawmakers approve legislation to make batteries greener", 14 June, https:// www.reuters.com/sustainability/eu-lawmakers-approve-legislation-make-batteries-greener-2023-06-14.
- 103 ZEV Transition Council (2023), "Phase-out targets: LDV", 24 May, https://zevtc.org/tracking-progress/ light-duty-vehicle-map/, accessed 19 August 2023
  104 Ibid.
- 105 J. Posaner (2023), "EU ministers pass 2035 car engine ban law", Politico, 28 March, https://www. politico.eu/article/eu-ministers-pass-2035-car-encine-ban-law/
- 106 European Commission (2023), "European Green Deal: Commission proposes 2030 zero-emissions target for new city buses and 90% emissions reductions for new trucks by 2040", Press Release (Strasbourg), 14 February, https://ec.europa.eu/ commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_23\_762
- 107 O. Delgado and S. Pettigrew (2022), "New legislation in Chile shows climate leadership", ICCT, 25 April, https://theicct.org/chile-latam-lvs-leg-enapr22/
- 108 P. Hemmersbaugh, P. Wierenga, and D. Lavey (2023), "Ambitious new EPA auto emissions standards proposal aims to accelerate electrification of US transportation", DLA Piper, 18 April, https://www. dlapiper.com/en-us/insights/publications/2023/04/ ambitious-new-epa-auto-emissions-standards-proposal-aims-to-accelerate-electrification
- 109 C. Randall (2022), "Canada issues regulations for the phase out of combustion vehicles", Electrive, 22 December, https://www.electrive. com/2022/12/22/canada-issues-regulations-for-the-phase-out-of-combustion-vehicles/
- 110 California Air Resources Board (CARB), 2022, "California moves to accelerate to 100% new zero-emission vehicle sales by 2035", 25 August, https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/california-moves-accelerate-100-new-zero-emission-vehicle-sales-2035
- 111 C. Davenport (2023), "California to Require Half of All Heavy Trucks Sold by 2035 to Be Electric", The New York Times, 31 March, https://www. nytimes.com/2023/03/31/climate/california-electric-trucks-emissions.html
- 112 SLOCAT (2021), "Transport Knowledge Base (TraKB) - SLOCAT Transport and Climate Change Global Status Report", https://tcc-gsr.com/data/ transport-knowledge-base-trakb.
- 113 Sustainable Bus (2021), "Another batch of 406 e-buses for Bogota (Colombia). Again with BYD's logo", 5 January, https://www.sustainable-bus. com/electric-bus/bvd-e-buses-bogota; C. Randall (2022), "Germany funds 472 new electric buses for Hamburg", Electrive, 1 April, https://www.electrive. com/2022/04/01/germany-funds-472-new-electric buses-for-hamburg; Nepali Times (2022), "Nepal's journey to electric public transport", Global Voices, 24 April, https://globalvoices.org/2022/04/24/ nepals-journey-to-electric-public-transport; Sustainable Bus (2021), "A deal for potential 1,000 electric school buses for Lion Electric. The 'conditional purchase' from Student Transportation of Canada", 25 October, https://www.sustainable-bus.com news/1000-electric-school-buses-lion-electric-student-transportation-canada: M. Turner (2022) "New report shows how California is leading the nation in cleaning up school buses", California Air Resources Board, 12 October, https://ww2.arb. ca.gov/news/new-report-shows-how-california leading-nation-cleaning-school-buses.
- 114 C40 Cities (2022), "São Paulo bans new diesel buses in city fleet", 29 November, https://www.c40.org/ news/sao-paulo-bans-new-diesel-buses; C40 Cities (2020), "Bogotá's Climate Emergency Declaration",

https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/Bogota-s-Climate-Emergency-Declaration.

- 115 CMM Chile (2020), "From pilots to scale: Lessons from electric bus deployments in Santiago de Chile", C40 Knowledge Hub, https://www. c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/From-Pilots-to-Scale-Lessons-from-Electric-Bus-Deployments-in-Santiago-de-Chile; Sustainable Bus (2020), "BVG Berlin towards 2030: 25 per cent more buses in the future full electric fleet", 13 July, https://www. sustainable-bus.com/news/bvg-berlin-towards-2030-25-per-cent-more-buses-in-the-future-fullelectric-fleet.
- 116 Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (2022), "Factsheet: Rio de Janeiro", https:// www.transformative-mobility.org/publications/ factsheet-rio-de-janeiro; The Hindu (2023), "80% of Delhi's bus fleet will be electric by 2025: CM Arvind Kejriwal", 2 January, https://www.thehindu. com/news/cities/Delhi/80-of-delhis-bus-fleetwill-run-on-electric-by-2025-cm-arvind-kejriwal/ article66329475.ece; Nikkei Asia (2022), "Cambodia builds up EV infrastructure to supercharge electric ambitions", The Cambodia Daily, 11 May, https://english.cambodiadaily.com/environment/ cambodia-builds-up-ev-infrastructure-to-supercharge-electric-ambitions-177861.
- 117 M. Dawra, M. Dutta Pandey and S. Bhatia (2022), "Expanding the Footprint of the Grand Challenge Across Tier-II India", WRI India, 12 September, https://www.wri-india.org/blog/expanding-footprint-grand-challenge-across-tier-ii-india
- 118 Ministry of Power (2022), "CESL discovers lowest ever prices for 5450 buses under the FAME II Scheme",26 April, https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasel framePage.aspx?PRID=1820225.
- 119 Tamil Nadu (2023), "Electric Vehicles Policy", https://evreporter.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/1676367398305.pdf.
- 120 CNBC (2023), "CESL selects six companies to supply 6,465 e-buses, claims cost savings up to 50% vs fossil fuel buses", 20 February, https://www. cnbctv18.com/auto/cesl-selects-six-companies-tosupply-6465-e-buses-claims-cost-savings-up-to-50vs-fossil-fuel-buses-15981051.htm.
- 121 C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group (2022), "Green and Healthy Streets: The C40 Fossil Fuel Free Streets Declaration", C40 Knowledge Hub, https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/ Green-and-Healthy-Streets-The-C40-Fossil-Fuel-Free-Streets-Declaration.
- 122 S. Turton (2022)," Cambodia builds up EV infrastructure to speed electric ambitions", Nikkei Asia, 10 May, https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/ Automobiles/Cambodia-builds-up-EV-infrastructure-to-speed-electric-ambitions
- 123 ESI Africa (2023), "Electric Bus Line To Be Built In Nairobi Through EU, Kenya Partnership", Smarter Mobility Africa, 3 April, https://smartermobility-africa.com/electric-bus-line-to-be-built-in-nairobithrough-eu-kenya-partnership/
- 124 Vietnamplus (2022), "New buses to be powered by electricity, green energy from 2025", 30 July,
- https://en.vietnamplus.vn/new-buses-to-be-powered-byelectricity-green-energy-from-2025/234606.vnp
- 125 T. Venkatraman (2020), "Mumbai's public bike-sharing now popular, 9,772 trips made in November", Hindustan Times, 3 December, https:// www.hindustantimes.com/mumbai-news/mumbais-public-bike-sharing-now-popular-9-772-tripsmade-in-november/story-p97yL0g1XUowmx7ys-BvtxN.html; R. Morley (2021), "New e-bike sharing service launches in Stockholm", BikeBiz, https:// bikebiz.com/new-e-bike-sharing-service-launchesin-stockholm/amp.
- 126 M. Toll (2022), "This country is paying car drivers nearly \$4,000 to switch to an electric bike", Electrek, 22 August, https://electrek.co/2022/08/22/ france-paying-car-drivers-switch-electric-bike.
- 127 L-A. Ramírez (2022), "Llegan Los Tuc Tucs Eléctricos a San Juan Comalapa, Guatemala", Euroclima, 18 May, https://www.euroclima.org/ contact-9/noticia-urbano/1683-tuc-tucs-electri-

cos-llegan-san-juan-comalapa-guatemala; Reuters (2022), "India orders rickshaws around Delhi to run on cleaner fuel", 1 December, https://www. reuters.com/business/environment/india-pollution-body-orders-autorickshaws-around-delhi-run-cleaner-fuel-2022-12-01; Kawa News (2022), "Sudan: The electric tuk-tuk as a solution to sustainable mobility", 5 May, https://kawa-news. com/en/sudan-the-electric-tuk-tuk-as-a-solution-tosustainable-mobility.

- 128 Reuters, "India orders rickshaws...", op. cit. note 127.
- 129 ESI Africa (2023), "Uganda And Vehicle Company Partner To Introduce Electric Motorbikes", Smarter Mobility Africa, 11 April, https://smartermobility-africa.com/uganda-and-vehicle-company-partner-to-introduce-electric-motorbikes.
- 130 M. Lewis (2021), "England will be first country to require new homes to include EV chargers [update]", Electrek, 22 November, https://electrek. co/2021/11/22/england-will-be-first-country-to-require-new-homes-to-include-ev-chargers.
- 131 Department for Transport, Government of UK (2022), "Tenfold expansion in chargepoints by 2030 as government drives EV revolution", https:// www.gov.uk/government/news/tenfold-expansionin-chargepoints-by-2030-as-government-drives-evrevolution.
- 132 J. Packroff (2022), "EU Parliament adopts targets for EV charging infrastructure", Euractiv, 20 October, https://www.euractiv.com/section/electric-cars/news/eu-parliament-adopts-targets-for-evcharging-infrastructure.
- 133 S. Wappelhorst (2022), "Incentivizing Zero- and Low-Emission Vehicles: The Magic of Feebate Programs", 8 June, International Council on Clean Transportation, https://theicct.org/magic-of-feebate-programs-jun22.
- 134 Ibid.
- 135 S. Yu and T. Munroe (2022), "China to cut New Energy Vehicle subsidies by 30% in 2022", Reuters, 31 December, https://www.reuters.com/world/ china/china-cut-new-energy-vehicle-subsidies-by-30-2022-2021-12-31.
- 136 Ibid.
- 137 C. Randall (2021), "South Korea introduces upper limit for EV subsidies", Electrive, 4 January, https:// www.electrive.com/2021/01/04/korea-introduces-upper-limit-for-ev-subsidies/; Y. Kwak and I. Kim (2023), "Korea's new EV subsidy plan favors Hyun-

dai over Tesla, other imports", The Korea Economic Daily, 3 February, https://www.kedglobal.com/ business-politics/newsView/ked202302030011

- 138 S. Wappelhorst op.cit. note 133
- 139 SLOCAT analysis based on Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ) and SLOCAT (2023), "Tracker of Climate Strategies for Transport", https://changing-transport.org/ tracker-expert.
- 140 Ibid.
- 141 Ibid.
- 142 Government of the UK (2022), "COP26 declaration on accelerating the transition to 100% zero emission cars and vans", https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/cop26-declaration-zeroemission-cars-and-vans/cop26-declaration-on-accelerating-the-transition-to-100-zero-emission-carsand-vans.
- 143 Accelerating to Zero Coalition (2023), "A truly global movement", https://acceleratingtozero. org/a-truly-global-movement, accessed 17 August 2023.
- 144 Drive to Zero Campaign (2022), "Global Memorandum of Understanding on Zero-emission Mediumand Heavy-duty Vehicles", https://globaldrivetozero.org/mou-nations.
- 145 Lienert, P. (2022), "World's top automakers plan to spend \$1.2T through 2023 on EVs, batteries", Global News, 21 October, https://globalnews.ca/ news/9216759/evs-batteries-spending-automakers.
- 146 C. Shen et al. (2023), "THE GLOBAL AUTOMAKER RATING 2022: Who is leading the transition to electric vehicles?", ICCT, Paris, https://theicct.org/publication/the-global-automaker-rating-2022-may23/
- 147 IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2023", op. cit. note 5.148 Ibid.
- 148 101
- 149 S. Elbein and S. Udasin (2023), "'Virtual' power plants get a boost", The Hill, 10 January, https:// thehill.com/policy/equilibrium-sustainability/3807712-virtual-power-plants-get-a-boost.
- 150 Sustainable Mobility for All (2021), "Electromobility in the Global South: An Equitable Transition Toward Road Passenger Transport Decarbonization", https://www.sum4all.org/data/files/05-electromobility\_in\_the\_global\_south\_an\_equitable\_transition\_toward\_road\_passenger\_transport\_decarbonization\_032322\_v2\_0.pdf.

- 151 IEA (2023), "Global EV Policy Explorer", https:// www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/global-ev-policy-explorer, accessed 9 August 2023.
- 152 La Nación (2023), "Taiwan will donate 10 electric buses to strengthen electromobility in the country", 11 January, https://www.lanacion.com.py/negocios/2023/01/11/taiwan-donara-10-buses-electricos-para-el-fortalecimiento-de-la-electromovilidad-en-el-pais
- 153 Kawa News, op. cit. note 127.
- 154 Accelerating to Zero Coalition (2023), "Accelerating to Zero Coalition", https://acceleratingtozero. org, accessed 17 August 2023.
- 155 Accelerating to Zero Coalition (2023), "The Zero Emission Vehicles Declaration: COP26 declaration on accelerating the transition to 100% zero emission cars and vans", https://acceleratingtozero.org/ the-declaration/, accessed 17 August 2023.
- 156 Climate Group (2022), "5.5 million vehicles committed to electric by global businesses", 23 March, https://www.theclimategroup.org/our-work/ news/55-million-vehicles-committed-electric-global-businesses
- 157 Clean Energy Ministerial (2023), "EV30@30 CAMPAIGN", https://www.cleanenergyministerial. org/initiatives-campaigns/ev3030-campaign/, accessed 17 August 2023.
- 158 GlobalDrivetoZero (2021), "The Program", https:// globaldrivetozero.org/about/program/, accessed 17 August 2023.
- 159 GlobalDrivetoZero (2021), " Memorandum of Understanding on Zero-Emission Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles", 27 October, https:// globaldrivetozero.org/about/program/
- 160 Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative (2022), "TUMI E-Bus Mission", https://transformative-mobility.org/focus-area/tumi-e-bus-mission/, accessed 22 August 2023.
- 161 C40 (2023), "Zero Emission Bus Rapid-deployment Accelerator (ZEBRA) Partnership", https://www.c40. org/what-we-do/scaling-up-climate-action/transportation/zero-emission-rapid-deployment-accelerator-zebra-partnership/, accessed 22 August 2023.
- 162 ZEV Transition Council (2022), "Enabling the transition to be faster, cheaper, and easier for all", https:// zevtc.org/, accessed 22 August 2023.

#### This report should be cited as:

SLOCAT (2023), Global Status Report on Transport, Climate and Sustainability - 3rd edition, www.tcc-gsr.com.

#### Data access and licensing:

Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format. Adapt — remix, transform and build upon the material for any purpose. Attribution — you must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence and indicate if changes were made.



The development of this report was led by Maruxa Cardama, Angel Cortez, Emily Hosek, Agustina Krapp, Nikola Medimorec and Alice Yiu from the SLOCAT secretariat. Our warm thanks to the many SLOCAT partners and experts from the wider transport community who have shaped this report. A significant share of the research for this report was conducted on a voluntary basis.

For a full list of acknowledgements, please visit the online page here.

www.tcc-gsr.com I #TransportClimateStatus



Transport, Climate and Sustainability Global Status Report - 3<sup>rd</sup> edition

